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1 Hearing opens with waiata Purea Nei and karakia timatanga by Ngati Whatua Orakei
2 [9.08 am]
3 CHAIR: Just on behalf of the Commissioners, we acknowledge and note, with great sadness, the
4 passing of Sir Toby Curtis and it is appropriate to do that, -- he passed yesterday, it's
5 appropriatc to do that today -- and I'm gctting nodding from our witncsscs - Ta Toby was a
6 great leader in the world of education, but particularly of kaupapa Maori education and he
7 was one of those great champions for Maori education, kaupapa Maori education at a time
] when it wasn't the fashionable thing to do and he led it and pushed it and pushed it to the
’ point where things have certainly come on in that area and we owe him a great debt of
10 gratitudc for that. So- it's fitting on this day, which is devoted to the question of abusc and
11 ncglect in education, and with the issue of cultural ncglcect as an issuc, that we mark his
12 passing and wc do so with sadness and with grcat respect.
13 Good moring everybody, just for those who cannot see, my name is Coral Shaw, 1
14 am the Chair of the Royal Commission. 1 am a Pakeha, elderly woman with chin length
15 white hair and 1 wear glasses. And I'll ask each of the Commissioners to introduce
16 themselves now in a similar way. Paul.

17 COMMISSIONER GIBSON: Kia ora, Paul Gibson, I'm a 6-foot-tall Pakeha male with greying

18 hair and I generally sit here with a hcadphone over onc car listening to a computer as [ am
19 partially blind, legally blind, kia ora.

26 COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE: Tena koutou katoa, Talofa lava i Ic pa‘ia ma Ilc mamalu o lc au
2i aofia. (Greetings to distinguished guests present today). I am Ali'imuamua Sandra

22 Alofivae, I am of Samoan-Chinese descent, I have shoulder length, black, curly hair and

23 1 wear glasses.

24 COMMISSIONER ERUETI: Téna koutou katoa, ko te mihi tuatahi ki te kaikarakia i te

25 haukainga Ngati Whatua te mana, te wehi, te ihi. Ka poroporoakitia ki nga mate koutou kua
26 wehe atu ki te po, ki te maumaharatia e Ta Toby Curtis, moe mai ra, moe mai ra. Hoki

2:7 wairua mai ki a koutou katoa, nga mihi nui ki a koutou katoa, kua huihui mai ki tc tautoko
28 tcnci kaupapa. I'm Anaru Erueti, onc of thc Commissioncrs and I'm a middlc-aged Maori
29 malc wcaring a suit today, t€éna koutou.

3@ COMMISSIONER STEENSON: Ata marie tatou, ko Julia Steenson toku ingoa. I am a middle-
31 aged Maori female, woman wearing a black top and brown jacket today with brown hair
32 and brown features. Kia ora.

33 CHAIR: Kiaoratatou. Today Ithink we have some new counsel and I invite you to make your

34 appearance. It's Mr Fargher, is that right?
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1 MR FARGHER: Yes, morena Commissioners, ko Zac Fargher toku ingoa. To describe myself, 1

2 am a Pakcha male, about 5'11" with black, albcit rapidly grcying hair. I appcar today on

3 behalf of Te Ropu Tautoko and the bishops and congregational lcadcers of the Catholic

4 Church in Aotearoa Ncw Zealand. Members of Tc Ropu Tautoko arc also herc today,

5 given the Church's intercst, involvement in intcgrated cducation. I don't presently intend to
6 question any witnesses, but as indicated by Ms McKechnie, we will file a memorandum

] addressing any matters that arise, including today.

2 CHAIR: Kia ora Mr Fargher, thank you for your appearance and thank you for the appearance of

’ Te Ropu Tautoko today.
10 Apart from that we have the usual suspects, cxcept for Mr Thomas who's making
11 his first appcarance in this hearing, morena Mr Thomas.

12 MR THOMAS: Morcna, Madam Chair and Commissioncrs, tcna koutou katoa, ko Michacl

13 Thomas ahau. My namc is Michacl Thomas and I'm onc of thc Counscl Assisting thc

14 Royal Commission. 1'm a tall male approaching 40, I'm of Fijian-Indian and Pakeha

15 descent and today I'm wearing a blue suit with a green tie. 1 have black hair which is

16 increasingly grey as my 4-year-old daughter points out.

I I'll be leading the questioning for the first three sessions today, Madam Chair, until
18 the afternoon tea adjournment and I'll be joined by my colleague later in the day, Katherine
19 Anderson, who will be Icading the last session today. Wc have represcentatives, witnesscs
20 here today from the Ministry of Education, hello to you, and I'll let Ms Schmidt--McCleave
21 introduce them and we'll have evidence-in---chicf to begin with, Madam Chair.

22 CHAIR: Thank you Mr Thomas. Tena koe Ms Schmidt-McClcavec.
23 MS SCHMIDT-McCLEAVE: Maorena ano nga Kaikomihana. For those who may be joining the

24 hearing today and haven't heard from me yet, my name is Rachael Schmidt-McCleave and 1
25 am counsel for the Crown response. 1 am a 49-year-old woman who my children would

26 describe as middle-aged, 1 am Pakeha, 1 have shoulder length brown hair which has some
27 grey creeping in and brown eycs and today I'm wcaring a grey dress and a black pinstriped
28 jacket. I'm joincd at counsel table by my friends Mr Clarkc-Parker and from thc Crown

29 Response Unit, Ms Julia White.

30 This morning we have four witnesses present from the Ministry of Education and I'd
31 like to hand over to them shortly to introduce themselves, but just to explain to the

32 Commissioners, we have lona Holsted, the Secretary For Education; next to her is

33 Mr David Wales, the National Director Learning Support; and next to David is Ms Rachael
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| Vink, the Manager National Service Support and Guidance Learning Support Special
2 Education.
3 Wec had intcnded to be joined by Hira Gage and Tipenc Chrisp but, as the
4 Commissioners will appreciatc, they also arc isolating and unwecll, but wc arc plcased to
5 welcome, and she's presently sitting behind me, but will be subbed in at some point today,
6 Ms Yvette Guttenbeil Po'uhila and she's the Education Manager and she can speak to the
7 development and implementation of the Ministry's specific action plan.
] So téna koutou katoa, I'll hand over to you Ms Holsted to introduce your team.

® CHAIR: If] could just take affirmations first and then get that bit --
1¢  MS SCHMIDT--McCLEAVE: Sorry ma'am.
11 CHAIR: That's all right, we'll get that bit over. Where is Ms Guttenbceil Po'uhila? Thercsheis,

12 thank you. I'm going to include you. I said yesterday it's like a moonie wedding, I'm going
13 to do an affirmation to cover cverybody from the beginning of the day and then we'rc all

14 clear.

15 MINISTRY OF EDUCATION

16 MS IONA HOLSTED, MR DAVID WALES, MS RACHAEL VINK AND
17 MS GUTTENBEIL PO'UHILA (Affirmed)

18 MS HOLSTED: Nga mihi nui ki a koutou katoa. Ko Iona Holsted toku ingoa, tc Tumu

19 Whakahaerc mo Matauranga, I'm the Chicf Exccutive of the Ministry of Education., I'm thc
20 Chief Exccutive of the Ministry of Education.

21 I join with others in noting thec passing of Ta Toby Curtis, the loss of a huge Totara
22 in the forest of matauranga Maori, and I join with others to acknowledge his courage and
23 relentlessness in pursuit of maintenance of kaupapa Maori in this country. We were, as a
24 Ministry, working with Ta Toby in the last three or four weeks to finalise an agreement

25 with Te Arawa around their education plan, and so it's with great regret, and particularly

26 because of that proximity, that I'm conscious of his passing, so thank you to others who

27 have acknowledged that.

28 A little about mc. Before I commenced this role at Tc Tahuhu on 8 December 2016
29 I was the Chicf Executive of thc Education Review Office. Prior to that I was a Deputy

30 Secretary at the Ministry of Social Development, prior to that some years at what is now

31 the Public Service Commission; and a bit of an eclectic background having been a teacher
32 first, trade unionist and worked at a community health service.

33 I'm pleased to have David and Rachael and Y vette with me today and they will

34 introduce themselves when their time comes.
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| Can | begin with some acknowledgments. 1 first want to acknowledge the courage
2 and the strength of the survivors who have written and spoken about their experiences in
3 this Inquiry, and I want to acknowledge the ongoing impact on those people and their
4 whanau.
5 I particularly acknowlcdge the survivors and thc whanau of thosc here today. I have
6 heard the terrible experience of those people through this Inquiry. 1 have often read of their
7 experiences in my former role in the Ministry of Social Development and in my current
] role as Secretary for Education. 1 have been in the position of having to acknowledge and
° apologise for those experiences.
10 Abusc of any kind is unacceptable, cspecially when it involves the most vulnerable.
11 Part of my job as bcing Sccretary for Education is to build a system which docsn't tolcrate
12 abusc and in fact cmbraces inclusivity. That is a responsibility that we all hold, not just
13 thosc in the profiession, but across our community.
14 [ will set out in my brieftoday some of the things that we have done and are in the
15 process of doing to try and achieve that state. Before doing so, though, 1 would like to set
16 out some other acknowledgments that are not currently in my brief. And I'd also like to
17 touch on some of the lessons we have learned in years gone by and through this experience.
18 I acknowledge that the Department of Education failed to actively protect tc rco and
19 encouragg its use by iwi and Maori and that was in breach of Tc Tiriti o0 Waitangi, and this
20 has had an ongoing detrimental effcet on the acquisition and usc of the Maori language, and
21 on the tikanga and matauranga of Maori.
22 I acknowledge that the education system has not sufficiently valued Maori cultural
23 understanding and has had consistently lower expectations of tamariki and rangatahi Maori
24 and its failure to respond to the identity, language and culture of Maori has harmed Maori
25 and contributed to poor education outcomes over the generations.
26 We cannot change what has happened, but we are committed to lifting the
27 participation and progress of tamariki and rangatira(sic) as a priority.
28 I acknowledge that record-keeping issues, including the loss of some records, has
29 caused pain to many because their full story could not be told.
30 I acknowledge that historically the State has failed to provide education fit for
31 different groups, including Blind, Deaf, Disabled tamariki.
32 I acknowledge that historically the Department of Education had less oversight of
33 private schools than State or State-integrated schools, and this may have provided

34 opportunities for predators.
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1 I acknowledge that at times the Ministry's approach to responding to complaints

2 about access to support servicces, cspecially in relation to Icarning support, can be too slow

3 and can fccl bureaucratic to families and whanau.

4 I further acknowledge therc are instanccs where some Disabled and Deaf tamariki

5 are still not able to access the full curriculum and wider cducation cxpcricnce.

6 Finally, 1 acknowledge that the Ministry doesn't always get it right. Some records

7 show that the Ministry should have acted with greater urgency; for example, Ruru.

] So what lessons have we learned? Regularly, specific examples, specific lessons

’ are learned in relation to specific events or series of events, and we can change our policies,
10 our practiccs, our guidance and our advice. But at a widcr system level, if we take it above
11 the specific, fundamentally Tc Tahuhu o tc Matauranga nceds to be a change agent.
12 Legislation, regulation, policy and guidance, monitoring on their own will not make
13 the changes that we need to make. Tc Tahuhunceds to sct cxpcectations and support a
14 diverse and fragmented system to change its attitudes, practice and sometimes its beliefs to
15 transform the daily experience of young people at school.

16 There is a balance here in how far Te Tahuhu pushes ahead of public sentiment and
17 how much it follows it. That is an ongoing tension in a highly devolved education system.
18 What we have learned. That we can be an effective change agent if we work with
19 and alongsidc others, othcr government departments, NG@®s, iwi Maori, schools, carly
20 Icarning scrvicces, the profession, the paraprofcssionals, diverse communitics and whanau.
21 Most critically, though, we nced to hear the voices of tamariki and rangatahi, and
22 engage them directly in decision making through hearing their lived cxpericace.
23 We need to get the right balance between what gets directed from the centre and
24 what is devolved to the frontline to create local solutions to local circumstances. This is
25 work that is underway, it is by no means complete. Thank you.

26 MS SCHMIDT-McCLEAVE: Nga mihi ki a koe, Ms Holsted. And Commissioners, Ms

27 Holsted, of coursc, has filcd a written bricf of cvidence which supports the Ministry's notice
28 to produce rcsponscs, or many responses.

29 What I'll do now in the approximatcly 45 minutcs I've got Icft to Icad Ms Holsted,
30 we will work through her brief, but we will be touching on aspects of it and Ms Holsted

31 will be adding further material. So it probably won't work if you follow the written brief as
32 such, but there will be parts that she will read.

33 CHAIR: Justan assurance that we have all read your brief of evidence, Ms Holsted, so we're

34 away to a flying start on that.
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gl

QUESTIONING BY MS SCHMIDT-McCLEAVE: Thank you Madam Chair.
2 So Ms Holsted, if you could turn to part four of your bricf and this part outlincs the
3 framework of the cducation scctor and start rcading.

4 MS HOLSTED: Tc Tahuhu is the Government's Icad advisor on cducation from carly Icarning

5 through to tertiary. That means that we approve policics, we administer the Iegislation and
6 we of course provide on-the-ground services as well. We have more than 1,000 learning
Fi support staff in the system.
] I'll make the point here though, because often it's not clear, we do not, unlike other
’ Jurisdictions, employ teachers. And in fact, do not employ most of the people employed in
10 the cducation workforce.
11 We do work with other agencies; the Education Review Office whose rolc is to
12 cvaluate schools and publish reports. The Tcaching Council of Aotcaroa Ncw Zcaland,
13 which registers teachers to ensure the quality of the tcachers that arc cmploycd by boards
14 and take complaints against actions where those teachers have breached certain conditions
15 or codes. New Zealand Qualifications Authority, which oversees standards of
16 qualifications, including NCEA. The Tertiary Education Commission which is essentially
17 a funder for the tertiary education system and judges performance of that sector.
18 It's an understatement to say that the education systcm in Ncw Zcaland is complex.
19 There are, apart from the number of Crown entitics I have just referred, there are other parts
20 of the systcm which are not mentioned in this bricf. There's an Education Payroll Crown
21 company, there's the Network for Learning Crown company, and then of coursc there's the
22 more than two and a half thousand boards of trustccs who make up the governors of the
23 schooling system, around about 5,000 learning services registered and so on.
24 We have a mix of private, State-integrated and State schools, and there is a history
25 to how private schools became State-integrated schools, which we will go into later.
26 We also have a small number of kura kaupapa schools, around about 11,000
27 students arc in kura kaupapa. Therc are other children Icarning tc reo Maori, immersion
28 Maori, through rumaki classes in so-callcd mainstrcam schools. Bctween 1950 and 1989
29 Statc schools werc controlled by Regional Education Boards and sccondary schools were
30 controlled by boards of governors. These bodies were responsible for - they employed the
31 teachers, recruited and employed teachers. They recruited them, should 1 say, into teacher

32 training as well, they were part of the whole endto-end system.
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| In 1989, the Tomorrow's Schools reforms saw a massive change in that system.
2 The administration, management and governance of State, primary and secondary schools
3 shiftcd to boards of trustees with locally-cleccted members.
4 My statcment describes thosc as being independent. That's probably a stretch too
5 far. They are Crown entities and therefore required to give effect to Government policy.
6 Within the context of this regulatory framework, and through a devolved system of
7 functions, Te Tahuhu has some oversight, but little direct influence on what happens on a
8 day-to-day basis in schools. And within that system there is an uneasy tension between
’ local autonomy and central control, which 1 mentioned at the beginning.
10 In a practical sensc, during Covid and lockdown, boards of trustccs and principals
11 looked to the Ministry to tcll them on a daily basis how thecy should perform. When that
12 situation changed, they're morc inclined to say "We don't want to hear from you."
13 In response to the schooling review, the Government signalled changes to Te
14 Tahuhu, and this is the subsequent review in 2016 when the Government came into office,
15 it indicated it wanted to review the Tomorrow's Schools approach, and that was led by Bali
16 Haque, and an independent task force reported to the Government.
17 Subsequent to that review, the Government made decisions about Te Tahuhu in
18 which Tc Mahau will become and is becoming the front of Tc Tahuhu, the porchin the
19 whare, and in the course of that work, we have adopted four substantive design principles.
20 The first is to takc practical action to give cffcet to Te Tiriti o Waitangi, to give
21 priority to regional and local voice, deliver greater responsivencss, accessibility and
22 integrated scrvices and support, and improve fcedback loops and information flows.
23 Te Mahau is made up of three frontline regional offices as well as a curriculum
24 centre and operations and integration. Te Mahau is already beginning to deliver new
25 services and supports and these will continue to grow particularly from the beginning of

26 term 1, 2023.

27 MS SCHMIDT-McCLEAVE: Thank you, Ms Holsted. Thc ncxt portion of your bricf spcaks to
28 Te Tiriti o Waitangi and you've touched on some of that in your carlicr statcments. Would
29 you like to expand on that now.

3@ MS HOLSTED: The Public Service Act requires Public Service departments to give effect to

31 Te Tiriti, to support the Government of the day as the Treaty partner. Government

32 departments, of course, are not Treaty partners, but we are there to support the Government

33 to be a good Treaty partner, to be a good kawanatanga partner.
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The Education and Training Act requires schools to also give effect to Te Tiriti and
to particularly work with their mana whenua in the design of their curriculum and,
increasingly, to provide opportunities for te reo teaching, so all of that legislation has been
passed in the last short while, the last few years.

We are, as an organisation, committed to honouring Tc Tiriti o Waitangi and giving
practical effect to it. We have led policy and strategy work intended to support Maori
students to enjoy achievement as Maori. This is the vision of Ka Hikitea Ka Hapaitia
Maori education strategy, Tau Mai Te Reo, the Maori language strategy.

In July we published a report that [ can make available to the Commission today
which gives you somc statistics on some of the highlights and growth arcas for Maori
education, and as with all such reports, it has somc indicators in therc which arc not as good
as we would like as well. Itis a thorough picce of work about the place of Maori in 2020.
It was delaycd.

Internally within Te Tahuhu we have embarked on two quite major pieces of
capability building for our own staff. Our staff go through a Treaty training programme
which begins not from the Treaty being signed but in fact from pre-European times in
New Zealand or Aotearoa. In addition to that, we have had, for the last -- we've had around
about 3,000 staff now I think go through a cultural compctency training programme called
Couragcous Convcrsations. That does confront pcoplc's baggage and racial bias and
is -- has attractcd some attention politically becausc thesce things arc not seen necessarily to
bc good things to do, but I'm very committed to undcerstanding that we need to clean up our

own whare first.

MS SCHMIDT--McCLEAVE: I note, for Commissioners, that the written brief contains a
number of specific provisions from the Education and Training Act. So, Ms Holsted, if we
could move on then to the statement of National Education and Learning Priorities, and is
there anything you'd like to tell Commissioners and the public about that?

MS HOLSTED: Can you help me, Rachacl, plcasc just which paragraph you'rc on?

MS SCHMIDT--McCLEAVE: We're at 5.5.

MS HOLSTED: Thank you. The National Education Learning Priorities are set out as the
Government's priorities for education that are intended to support the success and
well-being of all learners. These priorities, for the first time, have been set out across the
spectrum from early learning through to tertiary so that there is a continuum of learning and

somc common objcctives across the system.
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1 They're used to guide Government policy and increasingly they're being used as
2 ways that we can measurc the cffcctivencss of policics and practices that arc occurring.
3 Somc of thc measures arc more devcloped than others, as you would cxpeet. I'm surc you
4 don't want mc to go through all of them at this point.

5 MS SCHMIDT-McCLEAVE: No, they arc contained in your brict, so perhaps if we movc over
6 the page and to paragraph 5.9, and if you can outline Ka Hikitia - Ha Hapaitia and Tau Mai
7 Te Reo.

2  MS HOLSTED: Thank you. So those are the three strategies that are particularly focused on

’ Maori achieving as Maori, and they set out goals for those groups. Again, there are in the
10 bricf thc mcasures that we're looking to use to undcerstand the cffcctivencss against the
11 outcomes of te¢ whanau, tc tangata, tc kanorautanga and tuakiritanga. Thcsc arc concepts
12 that have been developed with Maori, they have been in place for quitc a whilc but refined
13 over time, and they arc strongly endorscd by the scctor.

14 I would have to say that a lot of the strategies and objectives that we've had in place
15 have been disrupted by Covid; the schooling sector in the last three years has been

16 incredibly disrupted and most particularly in Tamaki Makaurau and Tai Tokerau.

17 MS SCHMIDT-McCLEAVE: Thank you, Ms Holsted. Yes, I'm sure the parents in the room as
18 well as teachers will appreciate that statemcent. Just moving on in your bricf and that Icads
19 us to an important topic which you'd like to addrcss, and that is the national curriculum.

26 MS HOLSTED: The curriculum is the lifcblood of any Ministry of Education. It's only been in

21 the last six ycars, five years, that wc have been funded on an ongoing basis to build

22 curriculum. So we've achieved quite a lot. The national curriculum, thc New Zcaland

23 curriculum, was first launched around about 13 or 15 years ago, but was not fully

24 implemented because shortly thereafter the Government introduced national standards

25 which created a schism in the sector which meant that attention was not paid to the full

26 curriculum.

27 The curriculum that wc do have and thc marautanga arc both highly valucd by the
28 scctor in that they're very broad and cnabling framcworks. When we went to the scctor to
29 discuss how wc could breathe life into thosc, it bccamc clcar that the work involved for
30 teachers to breathe life into them was huge, that we had extremely high expectations of

31 what individual teachers or schools could do to give effect to it. And so we have launched
32 a major refresh of the curriculum which includes introducing Te Ao Maori concepts

33 throughout the curriculum with particular emphasis on curriculum in the Marautanga and
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1 throughout the NCEA review we're also bringing in parity of esteem, so we have
2 introduced parity of cstcem for certain courses which tend to be taken up by Maori.
3 The curriculum itself is based on the principles of Te Tiriti, acknowledges Aotearoa
4 New Zcaland's bicultural foundation, and cnablcs students to acquire tc rco Maori and
5 Tikanga Maori. The marautanga, like the New Zealand curriculum, aims to grow
6 competent and confident learners, effective communicators in a Maori world, healthy of
7 mind, body and soul and secure in their identity, and, critically, a sense of belonging.
] They'll have the skills and the knowledge to participate and contribute to Maori society and
° the wider world.
10 Te Marautanga o Aotearoa identifics how this vision links to thc lcarning
11 environment of children in matauranga Maori and Maori-mcdium schools. This starts with
12 the learncrs, their knowledge, skills, values and attitudes, as in addition to the aspects of
13 tcaching and learning.
14 Critical in all of our indigenous research shows how critically important for both
15 Maori and Pacific achievement is strong and powerful connection with family and whanau.
16 That same research tells us that connection with identity, language and culture is
I fundamental to the participation and progress of Maori and Pacific children and disabled
18 children and Dcaf children and all children.

19  MS SCHMIDT-McCLEAVE: And Tc Tahuhualso providcs a rangc of support and tools to
20 assist school boards to uphold Te Tiriti principles. Can you briefly outline what those are?

21 MS HOLSTED: Thank you. We work alongside boards to build thcir local curriculum as

22 requircd by the national education Icarning prioritics. Wc provide profcssional Icarning

23 and development to teachers, to build cultural competency. We fund the School Trustees
24 Association to provide boards with support and guidance in cultural competency, we work
25 to strengthen the Maori net -- the network of Maori medium provision, we built

26 partnerships, including iwi relationships, to encourage iwi and whanau to become involved
27 with student learning and their local kura, and wc support kura and Maori-cducation

28 workforcc through various grants and scholarships and support packagcs.

29  MS SCHMIDT-McCLEAVE: Thank you, Ms Holstcd. Therc's a number of initiatives in your

30 brief which relate to early learning and we can take those as read. So if we could pick up
31 your brief again at 6.2 and there you have given some evidence on the priority groups for
32 the Ministry.

33 MS HOLSTED: At the risk of repeating myself, and I will, we know that where schools connect

34 to that identity, language and culture of akonga, that building a strong connection between
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1 educators and those outside of the school gate, parents, whanau, communities, hapa, iwi
2 employers, Icarning outcomcs for children and young pcoplc arc significantly improved.
3 It's an casy thing to say and quite a challenging thing to achicve in an cnvironment
4 wherc familics, whanau, they too arc busy and stresscd and strctched. When [ spoke before
5 about Te Mahau becoming the frontline of the Ministry, the pcoplc going into the rolcs in
6 Te Mahau are there to walk alongside those schools, to build their capability and to create
7 some more heft to enable them to free up some resource and some time to actually do that
] connectivity which is so very important. We expect that places of learning are safe,
’ inclusive and free from racism and the NELP sets that out as well.
10 We also know that discrimination and bullying, however, remain major issues in our
11 schools, as they do in our community at large. We are going through a major change
12 programme to support the increasing diversity of students, including those to support
13 inclusive education of diverse learners, those who may be disabled, Deaf, to ensure they
14 can participate, belong and achieve.
15 We apply the principles of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the
16 Persons with Disabilities throughout several of our major reform programmes, learning
17 support action plan, which Rachael and David are expert in the detail of, the NCEA change
18 programme, curriculum rcfresh that I mentioned before, as well as other impacts on
19 disablcd Icarncrs.
20 Other initiatives, that includes draft standards for curriculum resources, materials
21 that specifically identify the impacts and benefits for disabled and Deaf akonga, updated
22 design standards to make school property more accessible, and design NCEA achievement
23 standards and resources to give more equitable opportunities for learners.
24 Disabled children and Deaf people with learning support needs are supported at
25 school in their everyday context. When teaching staff need additional support, they can
26 access a range of resources and advice through resource teachers and specialists. Students
27 can also spend time in alternative scttings if they requirc more intensive support.
28 We're currently reviewing the system of supports available to design a more
29 accessible and responsive system, particularly for those with very, very high needs. That
30 work is in train, but is an incredibly important piece of work and we're learning a lot
31 through it.
32 We also work closely with Oranga Tamariki to support access to education for
33 children and this has been strengthened recently by the signing ofan agreement known as

34 the Oranga Tamariki Action Plan where a number of departments, health, education, social
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1 development, have made commitments agreed by Cabinet as to how we will work to give
V) priority access over time to children in carc to access scrvices.

3 MS SCHMIDT-McCLEAVE: Thank you, Ms Holsted. Onc of the themes this Commission has

4 indicated it's intcrested in hearing from you on is monitoring oversight and safcguarding,

5 clearly, and your bricf sets out some historic changes in that rcgard and we won't go

6 through those in any detail, I'm sure you'll be asked some questions in relation to that, but if
7 we could pick your brief up again at 7.6 so you can speak about a summary of the current

] situation.

) MS HOLSTED: I'll return to 1989.
160 MSSCHMIDT-McCLEAVE: Thank you, ycs.

11 MS HOLSTED: Therc were major rcforms in the administration of cducation under which the

12 administration, management and govcrnance of Statc primary and sccondary schools

13 shifted to the boards of trustees. There was a desirc to give rcal but accountable autonomy
14 within the system. Central to these reforms was the balance between local autonomy and
15 central prescription.

16 Under the 1989 reforms, the Education Review Office, a Government department,
17 so again not an independent agency, but with independent statutory powers to review, was
18 establishcd to revicw the performance of schools. Boards arc also rcquirced to submit

19 annual reports to me, to my organisation, and to develop and submit planning and reporting
20 documents cvery ycar.

21 The key focus of this is to improve student performance and achicvement,

22 particularly for students at risk of not achieving, and wc usc thosc reports to -- at a Tc

23 Mahau level to understand where additional need or support may be required.

24 The Education Act 1989 brought in three powers to intervene in the control and

25 management of schools in trouble. Over time, with growing awareness and experience of
26 the complex mix of factors that contribute to school failure, changes were made. In

27 recognition that problems in schools could be the result of a change of factors, such as

28 geographical isolation, difficultics with curriculum implementation, financial management
29 issues, governance, management and health and safety issues, Te Tahuhu started the school
30 support project in the mid-1990s, where we could identify a range of factors and therefore
31 add more support to those schools.

32 Over time, the roles of Te Tahuhu and other agencies were refined to improve

33 standards. The Act was amended to include new powers in a risk management framework

34 which provided a range of interventions that may be uscd to address the risk of opcration of
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| individual schools. These include a requirement on the board to provide information,

2 engagc specialist help, carry out an action plan, appoint a limited statutory manager, and in

3 the most serious cascs, we can dissolve the board and appoint a Commissioncr.

4 In applying those interventions, the secretary or the minister is required to apply

5 whatever intervention they consider will be enough without intervening more than

6 necessary that interrupts the affairs of the school.

7 Alongside this, each school board is required to have a health and safety plan; it

] needs to provide a plan that shows the place is safe, physically and emotionally, for

’ students. We provide a contract with STA to support schools to govern those plans.
10  MS SCHMIDT-McCLEAVE: Just for the bencfit of thosc listening, can you cxplain what STA
11 1s, Ms Holstcd?
12 MS HOLSTED: School Trustees Association. It's not a crcaturc of Icgislation, it is -- thc school
13 boards join the School Trustees Association voluntarily, but our contract requircs the

14 School Trustees Association to provide services to all boards, regardless of their

15 membership status. They provide industrial support to schools as well.

16 All schools must comply with the prohibition on the use of corporal punishment

17 since 1990, the use of seclusion in 2017, as well as limits placed on restraint in 2017.

18 In 1990, ncw provisions were introduccd into the Act which grantcd powers of
19 inspection to all registered schools. A further amendment in 1998 granted authority to
20 enter and inspect a private school which was suspected of operating whilst unregistered.
21 Mandatory Police vetting and rcporting on criminal convictions, three-ycarly Police
22 vetting was introduced for teachers in both Statc and privatc schools in 2002. From 2002,
23 nonregistered school staff and contractors were required to be Police vetted every three
24 years with equivalent requirements introduced for employees of contractors from May
25 2010. All children's workers must be safety checked under the Children's Act. Licensed
26 hostels must be reviewed by ERO to evaluate the children are living in safe emotional and
27 physical conditions.
28 Thc education rcgulations came into forcc on 1 March 2006. Thc intention, again,
29 was to raise the standard of quality of safety for children in thosc institutions. Schools arc
30 required to adhere to the NELP. From 2017, the managers of a private school and the
31 school's principal and staff were required to give regard to the NELP, which I've discussed
32 before.
33 Obligations to adopt a written child protection policy were introduced in 2014.

34 Thesce must be revicwed every three ycars and must contain provisions about how staff will
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| handle the identification and reporting of child abuse and neglect under the ®ranga
2 Tamariki Act 1989.
3 ®bligations to cnsurc, as far as practicablc, the health and safcty of students under
4 thce Health and Safety At Work Act, and there arc dutics on principals when student arc
5 stood down or suspendcd.
6 Guidelines are provided to schools to help them understand the legal framework,
[ regulating the use of restraint. Those are in the process of being updated. We also support
] schools to develop their bullying prevention and response approaches through a collective
L group called the Bullying Prevention Action Advisory Group. Guidance is also provided to
10 school boards, principals and teachers so they understand their legal requirements in
11 relation to stand downs, suspcnsions and cxclusions and cxpulsions.
12 The stand downs, suspensions, cxclusions and cxpulsion guidclines arc currently
13 being updated and will focus on inclusive principles to give practical cffect to Te Tiriti,
14 emphasise a range of options for early intervention and support the reduction and
15 prevention of seclusions, etc.

16  MS SCHMIDT-McCLEAVE: Thank you, Ms Holsted. There's a large portion in your brief then

17 around staff and caregivers in regulation of staffing in schools, special schools and teacher
18 registration. We're going to take those aspects as read, and we'll skip forward to paragraph
19 9.1

206 MS HOLSTED: Private schools have always becn owned and opcerated by privatce cntitics rather
21 than the Statc. As sct out in the cvidence of Helen Hurst, 7 @ctober 2021, the Ministry has
22 always had considerably lcss involvement in private school scttings by comparison to the
23 State or State-integrated system.

24 While private schools receive some funding, they adhere to their own internal rules,
25 canons and constitutions and applicable statutes. Private schools must be registered, but
26 otherwise have considerable flexibility in choosing their own curriculum and assessment
27 methods.

28 Statc-intcgrated schools, and let me be clear, not all private schools arc faith-bascd
29 schools and not all faith-bascd schools are State-intcgrated schools and not all Statc-

30 integrated schools are faith-based schools. State-integrated schools were originally private
31 schools who opted into the State education system following the Private Schools

32 Conditional Integration Act in 1975.

33 That Act was introduced following lobbying from church authorities, particularly,

34 and came at a time when many of those schools were cxpericncing financial difficulty. The
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| difficulties resulted from a number of factors, including new requirements from the State

2 that registered teachers be employed. For example, in Catholic schools, the number of

3 pricsts, brothers and nuns in teaching declined and the number of registered tcachers

4 increased, thus increasing their costs.

5 While the proprictors of an integrated school retained ownership of the land and

6 buildings and they were responsible for bringing those up to State conditions, in all other

7 respects, they were and are funded like State schools, receiving the same general operating
] grants and the same staffing entitlements.

’ State-integrated schools must teach the New Zealand curriculum, however the
10 tcaching can reflect their special character. ERO reviews Statc-integrated schools and State
11 schools in the same way. ERO also rcviews private schools and their hostels to cvaluate
12 whecther students are living in a safc and emotional environment.

13 MS SCHMIDT-McCLEAVE: Thank you. And just in thc approximatcly 10 minutes I think I
14 have left, could you -- we'll take 10.1 to 10.3 as read, and if you could pick up 10.4 and the
15 issue of racism and ableism in the system.

16 MS HOLSTED: On a universal level, we need to reduce the level of racism and ableism in the

17 system and our communities. We do this, aim to do this, through professional learning and
18 development with priority on cultural capability and programmes like Te Hurthanganui in
19 schools.

20 Te Tahuhu acknowlcdges that the pace and scalc of developing resources in tc rco
21 and underpinncd by Te Ao Maori lags bchind wherce it needs to be. At the same time, |

22 would notc that since 2021 wc have prioritiscd cultural compctencey in relation to the

23 professional learning and development of teachers.

24 There's been an increasing amount of work with akonga and their whanau to help
25 inform the changes needed to create an inclusive and equitable education system. Te

26 Tahuhu uses key Government strategies to measure the required system improvements.

27 I've mentioned these before, the statement of National Education and Learning Prioritics,
28 Ka Hikitia Ha Hapaitia, the education system's Maori education strategy.

29 Workforce capability and capacity is a major challenge for the education system as
30 it is for broadcasting, the Public Service, and private enterprise wishing to recruit and retain
31 Maori staff, Pacific staff, disabled staff, te reo, especially those who are capable in te reo.

32  MS SCHMIDT-McCLEAVE: And we can take the remainder of that part of your brief as read.
33 There are just two more topics in the time left that 1 would like you to address. The first

34 being Icarning support, picking that up at 10.12.
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MS HOLSTED: Learning support has evolved significantly in the 20th century. 1 will take the
paragraphs as read because we have experts herc to talk about it. I think it would be worth
me noting, however, that we have made a decision in this country that accessing learning
support is on the basis of nced and not diagnosis. And that, I'm surc, will be canvasscd
later in our discussions. It is an important differcntiator in our systcm and it prescents some
challenges and some opportunities.

MS SCHMIDT-McCLEAVE: Thank you, and just we can take the remainder of the brief,
including the complaints referrals aspect as read, and 1'm sure Mr Thomas will have some
questions for you. So which means, I think, that we may have come to the end of your
cvidencc-in-chicf, Ms Holstcd. But just beforc I pass you over to Mr Thomas for
questioning, could you -- and, I'm sorry, this is my oversight, I forgot to ask you to describe
yourself for the benefit of those who are visually impaired and perhaps also your two team
members could introducc and describe themsclves as well.

MS HOLSTED: My apologies also. I will describe myself as a wrinkled, white public servant.
I'm wearing a blue trouser suit and a piece of turquoise around my neck which 1 like to play
with.

MS SCHMIDT-McCLEAVE: Thank you, and Mr Wales.

DR WALES: Kia ora tatou katoa, I'm Dr David Walcs, I'm thc National Dircctor for Learning
Support Delivery with the Ministry. I'm a late middle-aged, Pakeha male with limited
amounts of short grey hair and today I'm wcaring a grey suit to match. Kia ora.

MS SCHMIDT-McCLEAVE: Thank you, and Ms Vink.

MS VINK: Teéna koutou katoa, ko Rachacl Vink toku ingoa. My currcnt rolc is the manager of
the National Service Support and Guidance team which is within service delivery of
learning support. lona mentioned briefly that we have 1,000 learning support specialists
employed in regionally based teams. My team has oversight of evidence-based practice,
both those delivered by them and also partner organisations who are contracted by the
Ministry. I am 41 years old, I'm a Pakeha fecmalc with black, shoulder length hair and
glasses and today I'm wcaring a green top with birds and flowers. Kia ora.

MS SCHMIDT-McCLEAVE: Nga mihi ki a koutou. I will now pass you over to my fricnd
Mr Thomas who will have some patai for you. Téna koutou.

CHAIR: Thank you Ms Schmidt-McCleave. Mr Thomas.

QUESTIONING BY MR THOMAS: Kia ora, Ms Holsted, and also good morning to your
colleagues who are here. 1 just wanted to indicate I'll primarily direct my questions to you

unlcss otherwisc stated, but I'm happy to take a steer from you if any of your collcagucs
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| wish to answer a particular question. | guess I want to start by saying thank you for the
2 acknowlcdgements that you made during your cvidenccinchicf, and thesc arc noted and
3 appreciated, and we'll consider these further following this hearing as well. I may test you
4 on somc of my qucstions on how far thesc acknowlcdgments cxtend, we'll comc to this.
5 I'm going to start with somc questions for you about thc cducation framcwork, parts
6 of it anyway, and the Ministry's role in that, starting with Helen Hurst's statement which
[ she's provided to the Commission which you've referenced in your evidence. We've got
] part of this up on the screen now. For the record it's document ending 20167 and she
L describes the Ministry's role in the education system and I'm going to read that for the
10 record as well:
11 "The Ministry has a stewardship rolc that cncompasscs crcating, designing,
12 managing, regulating, fostering, and Icading Ncw Zcaland's cducation systcm so that
13 children and young pcoplc gain the skills, knowlcdge and ability they need to be compctent,
14 confident lifelong learners."
15 Do you agree with that summary?

16  MS HOLSTED: It's part of the story. As I said before, the education system is complex. We

17 definitely have the role of creating the regulatory framework, the legislative framework and
18 the policy and guidelincs that get distributed and provided to the scctor for them to

19 implcment.

20 When I came into this rolc, one of my observations was that thc Ministry tcnded to
21 talk about itself as if it was teaching children, and it docsn't. And so I sct about asking what
22 is the purposc of the Ministry of Education and wc spent quitc a bit of discussion and time
23 talking about that, and we did come up with the role is to shape a system. And I think that's
24 the right word, because it is such a system where accountabilities do rest in different places
25 at different times. So if the term "stewardship” is a shaping role, then yes. But I wouldn't
26 want people to think that I, anybody in the Ministry, is out there helping young people

27 directly gain skills, knowledge, because we haven't got that capacity to reach into the

28 schooling system.

29 MR THOMAS: You would accept, though, the leadership role that the Ministry has within the
30 system as you've described?

31 MS HOLSTED: The shaping of a system that delivers equity and excellence, yes.

32 MR THOMAS: Do you think the statement by Ms Hurst is missing an element of child safety in

33 education?



10

11

12

13

14

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

7

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

TRN0000632_0020

348

MS HOLSTED: Well, I think that if you've got the -- if you are able to be a competent and
confident lifclong Icarncr, it docs probably infer that you have also been nurtured in a safc
environment, it's an outcome statemcent.

MR THOMAS: So you would say it's implicit in that statcmcnt but not cxplicit?

MS HOLSTED: I think that's corrcct. Idcally, a safe cnvironment is, as I've said in my own
statement, something we expect every school to provide.

MR THOMAS: Thank you. Taking you to paragraph 2.4 of your brief of evidence, and for the
record, that's document ending 20553, I'm just going to refer to a short part of that. 1 don't
think we need it up on the screen, I'll just read that. You note that:

"Wc all have a responsibility to all children to do everything we can to climinatce the
risk of harm to children in the cducation system and to providc a safc cnvironment.”

Your evidence in your brief, again, at 4.1 is that the Ministry is the Government's
lead advisor on education in New Zcaland. Howcvcr, you also say that the Ministry has
some -- sorry, I'm quoting here, "has some oversight but few direct influences on what
happens day to day in schools."

That's at paragraph 4.8, 1 believe. 1'm just going to ask you about that statement. 1s
it correct to say that the Ministry's leadership role is in the sense of policy advice and
influencc on how the cducation systcm opcratcs?

MS HOLSTED: 4 .81 think rcstates what I just said, was we can sct the rulcs, we can sct the
policy, the lcgislation and the expectation, but our ability to rcach in on a day-to-day basis
is very limitced.

MR THOMAS: Thank you. As CE of thc Ministry, if you had a conccrn that the cducation
system or part of it was not working as it should, would you advise the Minister of
Education and potentially provide or propose solutions to that?

MS HOLSTED: At a system level I think that we have -- that's an ongoing piece of work and if
you look back over the changes that have happened in policy and legislation and regulation
over decades, they have all been seeking to improve the performance of the system; the
most reccnt being the Education and Training Act changes where it raiscd, for cxample, the
expectation around Te Tiriti, it did a lot of othcr things as wecll, but a lot of -- cvery singlc
change that's occurred has been to make the system better. So at that level, yes, but
practically it will be when there's -- if there is an individual school that's got a situation, we
will not necessarily refer that to the minister, we've got other ways of dealing with that.

MR THOMAS: We might come to that in a couple of questions. So if there's more of a sort of

systcms issue, a broader issuc, that might be raiscd at the minister's level?
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MS HOLSTED: The minister may raise it or we may raise it, yes.

MR THOMAS: I was going to ask that next. Sometimcs thc ministcr might comc to you as CE
for advice on a particular issue if he thinks something's not working, is that fair?

MS HOLSTED: It's fair. I think it's important to put this into contcxt for the rccent past. This
Government began its term with Korcro Matauranga, which was two large, open scssions
where the members of the New Zealand public were brought together for two days, one in
Auckland and one in Christchurch, for politicians to hear what it was that they wanted from
their education system, and that formed the basis of a major work programme that you will
have seen referred in my brief, but which it may be useful to provide to the Commission in
a diffcrent form, to put it all in onc placc.

MR THOMAS: Surc. You mentioncd the Ministry has othcr ways of, say, dcaling with a
particular issuc in a school. I guess, relating to that, can you say at a higher Icvcl what
lcvers the Ministry has as a leader in the cducation system to bring about changc?

MS HOLSTED: Can| -- probably 5.16 is where I set some of those things out. Those are the
formal levers that we have to engage with schools, and then earlier in that 1 think
1 mentioned that in a worst-case situation install a Commissioner who basically takes over
all of the board's functions, so everything from what might be a conversation with a
principal or a teacher on a -- from one of our staff, through to thc Commissioncr. There arc
a rangc of intcrventions that we might take if therc was a particular issuc, depending on
what that issuc was.

MR THOMAS: So thesc arc the specific powers to intcrvence in schools and support schools, is
that right?

MS HOLSTED: That's right.

MR THOMAS: In your view, | guess, are those powers sufficient?

MS HOLSTED: Well, they're sufficient in an environment where I'm not the employer, because
we need -- you'll note that elsewhere when | talked about using interventions, I'm required,
as is thc minister, to take account of the balancc of the rights of thc board to be the board.

So in an environment wherc therc's been a decision taken more than 30 ycars ago,
s0 1989 the Government and the people of New Zcaland presumably changed the rules so
that the employer was the board, that was reviewed recently when the independent task
force was recruited by this Government, and interestingly, one of their early
recommendations that was never finalised, was to recentralise the employment of teachers,

but there was a very strong backlash against that proposition. So at this stage 1 think we've
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| got the Government, or any government, reflecting how the nation wants its schooling
2 systcm to be operating.

3 MR THOMAS: Thank you, yeah, I'll comc in a moment to that task forcc just to refer to some of

4 their findings. But before I do, you refer in paragraph 8 of your bricef of evidence, and

5 you've mentioned it as well in your cvidence today, about the current framework and you

6 state that within this model lies an uneasy tension between local autonomy and central

[ control. You may have answered this, but do you think the system currently strikes the

] right balance between those tensions?

* MS HOLSTED: I think I need, as a public servant, to be clear that the Government has recently
10 considercd the structurc of the cducation system and has madc some dccisions about that.
11 Thc fact that there is tension in a system docsn't make it wrong and it can strengthen
12 it. Thetaskthat I havc is to manage that tension as best I can. And as I said in my opcning
13 statcment, but not writtcn herc, I appreciatc, how we work with the scctor, with the
14 profession, and with whanau and kids is actually central to how we manage that tension.

15 And 1 don't think we have done that very well always in the past.

16 MR THOMAS: Referring you now to that Tomorrow's Schools independent task force review

I that you've mentioned, and they reported in November 2018, unfortunately, we don't have
18 that in thc bundle, but I'm going to just paraphrasc somc of the findings of that rcport as
19 I have read it.

20 Somc of the issucs, systemic issucs raiscd in that report by the task force

21 included -- I'm just going to read thesc out and ask you about them -- variability of

22 capability of school boards and the report described the 2,500 approximately schools as
23 self-governing islands. A second issue was the role and capacity of the education agencies
24 and the report stated:

25 "National education agencies are often seen as bureaucratic and removed from the
26 day-to-day work of schools/kura, while their regional offices are underresourced and have
27 limited capacity or discretion to provide the support that schools/kura want and nced.”

28 That was on pagc 4. Onc more:

29 "Children from disadvantaged homes, too many Maori and Pacific familics and

30 those with significant additional learning needs remain those most poorly served by the

31 system."

32 1 appreciate those are only parts of that task force's work, but on those specific

33 points, do you have any comment?
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MS HOLSTED: Thank you. Variability in a distributed system is inevitable, so [ absolutely think

2 we'd all accept that. And I think this sclf-governing islands is probably a bit cxtreme, I'm
3 not -- so, for examplc, there's been quite a big initiative that was introduced undcer the
4 previous National Government, Kahui Ako, which brought togcther clusters of schools
5 and -- so wc've got around 2,500 boards and we have around 250 Kahui Ako, so it's not
6 evenly spread but just by rough numbers. That means that most -- you know, quite sensibly
7 groups of 10 schools grouping up to support one another. So that is one thing I would point
8 to as a way that schools have -- and that was funded by the Government, it was one of the
’ biggest investments in New Zealand's history probably in terms of funding to support that.
10 So they cxist.
11 Secondly, second trom that is in the system, the role of principalship is very, very
12 important, because although boards may be variable, they're not there all the time, and the
13 leadership of the principal is critical to the environment, probably, that the school has.
14 School principals gravitate to other school principals. So, for example, we're in Newmarket
15 now, I can tell you that the principals of the schools around here will almost all be members
16 of'the Auckland Primary Principals’ Association or the Auckland Secondary Principals'’
17 Association, they will also aftiliate to the New Zealand Principals' Federation or the
18 Secondary Principals' Association. They will, in many cases, be a member of a subject
19 association.
20 So therc are a lot of ways that the system docs actually accommodatc the
21 distribution. So it's not quite as stark, I think, as it's painted there. It's not to say that there
22 won't be clements of that.
23 In terms of the capacity of the national bodies appearing and feeling bureaucratic,
24 1 couldn't agree more. 1think I said it in my opening that the way we deal with people
25 actually can feel bureaucratic.
26 So the Government's response to that report was to say you need more people out
27 therc working alongside schools and principals who know their busincss, who can rclatc to
28 them, who have got credibility with them, and who can work with them. So in the first
29 tranche of funding to support that, we had around about 40 curriculum advisors comc in to
30 our Te Mahau two years ago. In the following budget we had funding for a further 35
31 people to come in and work. We could not fill those vacancies because of Covid, but we
32 have transferred that funding to this year, and then in the last budget, we were funded for

33 about 40 leadership advisors.
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1 So if you go back to the independent task force report, you will find they

2 reccommcnded curriculum advisors and Icadership advisors and that is what thc Government
3 has responded to.

4 In relation to disadvantage, outside of that rcport, thc Government has donc somc

5 pretty significant things in terms of food in schools, has bcen deliberately targeted at poor
6 families, donations policy to reduce the pressure on schools in low deciles to respond to

7 needs for cash, free period products in schools, all schools, and then a commitment to fund
] the equity index next year.

’ So I think on the disadvantage, there's a number of different policies that
10 have -- thcy will not resolve all of the issues raiscd but they do try to attend to somc of the
11 issucs.

12 MR THOMAS: Thank you. So, in summary, you'd scc it that thcrc arc somc good initiatives

13 taking place to address some of those findings?

14  MS HOLSTED: The Government's response was comprehensive and I think it's on the record, so
15 1 am implementing the Government's response.

16 MR THOMAS: Thank you. I'm going to move now away from the sort of framework questions a

17 bit and ask you some questions about Te Tiriti o Waitangi. Sorry,just bear with me when
18 I determinc wherc to start. I'm going to start with thc Ministry's responsc to the

19 Commission's noticc to produce number 422. Wc don't need to bring this up, but that

20 contains an acknowledgment on page 20 that as a partncr to Tc Tiriti, thc Crown has a duty
21 to actively promote and protect Treaty rights and to devclop cducational scttings in a way
22 that reflect Maori/Crown rclationships, and this has been reflected in the Education and

23 Training Act 2020.

24 We understand that the Public Service, in and of itself] is not a Treaty partner and
25 the Treaty partner is the Crown, and we appreciated having evidence from another CE

26 earlier this week on that point. However, would you agree that the Public Service does

27 have a rolc under the Public Scrvice Act 2020 to support the Crown in its rclationship with
28 Maori undcr the Trcaty?

29  MS HOLSTED: Wce have an obligation to support thc Government in rclation to its rolc as a

30 Treaty partner, yes.

31 MR THOMAS: I'm going to turn now to some of your Ministry's documents around the Treaty
32 and starting with the Treaty of Waitangi policy document, which is document ending

33 250960 for the record. 1'm just going to read a quote from that and then ask you about it.

34 Sorry, we'll just see if we can have this up.
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| MS HOLSTED: Is it a long quote or a short quote?
2 MR THOMAS: Reclatively short, the part I'm going to rcfer to, but Ms Schmidt-McClcavce asked

3 for that to be brought up. I'll just get up the wording. I might continuc rcading in thc
4 meantime. So in this document, ycs, I'm rcading from around thc middlc of the page undcr
5 "Ministry of Education”, I'm just going to rcad from therc. So the Ministry's describing
6 itself as:
[ "A major institution of Government with many statutory powers and functions
] exercised by Ministry officials that affect Maori children and young people, their whanau,
L hapii and iwi."
10 Would you agree that in carrying out that role as dcscribed and in order for the
11 Crown to meet its Treaty obligations, it is critical that the Ministry gives effect to the
12 Treaty?

13 MS HOLSTED: The Crown givcs cffcct to the Treaty. Wc neced to provide advicc to the Crown
14 to meet that, and in our daily work, we need to respect the role of the Crown as a Treaty

15 partner. I don'tknow if I've answered your question, I'm sorry.

16 MR THOMAS: Prior to the statutory direction in the 2020 Education Act and Training Act, what
I informed the Ministry's role in giving effect to the Treaty?

18 MS HOLSTED: Well, there's a constitutional role for thc Crown and as an agent, a Public

19 Service department, one's job is to support the Crown in its functions. So really it codified
20 but I don't think it particularly changed the responsibility. The Act codificd what - I think
21 it's absolutcly fair to say, though, that thc rclationship between the Crown as a Treaty

22 partner and iwi Maori as Trcaty partners has developed quite a lot in the last fcw ycars, and
23 it is shifting and it is working its way through different places at different times. So- the
24 words on the page here are intended to say in order to do our job, particularly in relation to
25 respecting article 3, then you must take account of equity if nothing else.

26 And we know that Maori have been failed by the system, so if you've got an

27 education system that's attempting to improvc that situation, you nccd to pay attention to it.

28 MR THOMAS: Thank you. Yeah, I guess prior to that the 2020 legislation giving some statutory
29 dircction on that, though, was thcre anything in, say, thc 1989 Act that assisted in that

30 regard or is it more recent that we see that?

31 MS HOLSTED: No, I think it would - 1 think it goes quite a long way back in education, that the
32 relationship between iwi Maori and education has been quite close at times. And at other
33 times it hasn't been, but it wasn't created, is my point 1 suppose, by that 2023 legislation. In

34 fact, I'm sorry, I -can't - that- document thcre is 20207
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1 MR THOMAS: That's correct, yes.

2 MSHOLSTED: Docs that prccede the Act or is it after the Act?

3 MR THOMAS: It's certainly in the year of.

4  MS HOLSTED: It may well havc prceeded it. I can't quite recall cxactly -- it says January 2020,
5 $0...

6 MR THOMAS: Thank you. I'm going to bring you to another Ministry document now and we'll

7 try and get this up as well. We've got it there. So this is, [ guess, yeah, what I'm wanting to
] say here is that the Ministry's commitment to giving effiect to Te Tiriti is articulated in its

L internal policy documents, which include this one specifically, commitment to the Treaty of
10 Waitangi.

11 At page 1 the principle of active protection is included there as a guiding principle;
12 is that corrcct?

13 MS HOLSTED: Itis a guiding principle of the Treaty.
14 MR THOMAS: And the document goes on to state under the heading "What this means for our

15 work", that:

16 "We see Maori students as taonga to be protected.”

17 Would you agree that active protection requires the Ministry to take, by definition,
18 proactive stcps to achicve this vision as opposcd to a passivc or rcactive rolc?

19  MS HOLSTED: Yes.
26 MR THOMAS: Would you accept that protccting studcnts as taonga, as trcasurcd posscssions,
2i includcs protecting them from harm in education scttings?

22 MS HOLSTED: Through the regulations, thc provisions that we can give cffcct to, ycs. And 1

23 will repeat, what happens on a daily basis in schools is not something that we have daily
24 contacton. So I think you'll find that our legislative frameworks, our NELPs, our guidance,
25 our expectations, are entirely consistent with that protection.

26 MR THOMAS: Just continuing on with this line of questioning, is the Ministry's commitment
27 and the Crown's commitment to actively protecting Maori students from harm onc of the
28 ways by which it fulfils its active protection duties?

29 MS HOLSTED: I'm going to repcat; thc Crown gives effect to thosc principles of the Treaty, we
30 are here to assist them to do it.

31 MR THOMAS: [ guess with reference to the Commission's terms of reference period 1950 to

32 1999, 1 guess can you explain how in practical terms that the Crown, and with assistance
33 from the Ministry, if | can take into account your comments, has met its commitment to

34 activcly protcet Maori students as taonga frrom harm across the diffcrent cducation scttings?
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1 MS HOLSTED: 1 said at the outset that 1 did not think we had, it was one of the

2 acknowlcdgments I made.

3 MR THOMAS: Thank you. In terms of asscssing the successive cducational outcomes for
4 Maori, does the Ministry routinely assess the effectiveness of its duty to protect Maori
5 students from harm?

6 MS HOLSTED: Well, we regularly look at the impact of policies, practices, legislation,

7 curriculum and we -- over all of that we have a Treaty of Waitangi te ao Maori, Maort lens,
] and so to that extent, particularly in recent years, the answer would be yes. Whether or not
’ those are all fit for purpose, | would be naive to suggest that I think they are.
10 What we are, and [ again said at the outset, the way that we will be morce cffective at
11 changing the systcm so that the outcomes that I think we all want to achicvc arc achicved is
12 working alongside and with. And I don't rcally think that a Ministry on its own can or will
13 achicve that.

14 MR THOMAS: Just in relation to that previous acknowledgment that you mentioned in relation
15 to harm, sorry, I took it that the acknowledgment related to te reo only. Is the
16 acknowledgment, does that extend to an acknowledgment of failure to protect from harm?

17 MS HOLSTED: It acknowledged failure to access te reo, tikanga and matauranga. The reason

18 thosc three things are there together is because with the three of them, we know that Maori
19 expericnce success as Maori. So if you take somc of thosc away, and [ know - I'm not surc
20 the way you're using "harm" but I'm using it in a very general sense, that you do harm

21 people if you takc away aspects of their identity, their language or their culture. So te rco
22 tikanga and matauranga- go to the heart of identity, language and culture.

23 MR THOMAS: What about harm in the sense of, like, children's safety, physical and emotional
24 safety?

25 MS HOLSTED: We should have done everything that we could have done to protect every

26 child's safety. To the extent that we haven't, then I think we'd acknowledge that.

27 MR THOMAS: Thank you. I gucss I just want to explorc with onc morc qucstion, onc or two

28 more questions, the distinction which you've mentioned between the Ministry's role in the
29 systcm and the devolution, I gucss, down to school boards in tcrms of what they do.

30 1 guess the question's aimed at, yeah, how can the Ministry ensure, | guess, students are
31 protected from harm, you know, if it's not involved in that day-to-day operational side of

32 schools?
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1 MS HOLSTED: It can't. And it's something that I find 1 talk about a lot. Even the last reading of
2 this submission I saw the word "cnsurc". It's not possiblc to givc that assurancc, I'm sorry.
3 It would be wrong to do so.

4 MR THOMAS: I'm just going to have another look at one of the Ministry's documents, the Policy

5 Statcment. That's document cnding 650 and I'm just going to rcad this cxtract into thc
6 record:
] "A coherent Crown approach is needed to deliver equity for Maori in education.
] This means working with education-related agencies so that all levers operate in unison to
L uphold and honour Te Tiriti, the Treaty, in education.”
10 I wanted to ask you, I gucss, at a high levcl, how docs thc Ministry work with othcr
11 agencies to ensurc that Maori students in cducation arc protected from harm, and by
12 "harm", I'm refcrring morc to safcty?

13 MS HOLSTED: So thc statcment relatcs to equity of outcome in rclation to cducational

14 achievement, and we work particularly with the Tertiary Education Commission, the

15 New Zealand Qualifications Authority, New Zealand Teaching Council, the Education

16 Review Office. As a group of chief executives, we meet regularly on this. We have deputy
17 secretaries who also work together, and we have increasingly a relationship between those
18 dcputy secrctarics oversecing Ka Hikitca, and alongsidc them the Matauranga Iwi Leaders
19 Group is engaged in oversight of that work as well.

26 MR THOMAS: Thank you. I just want to ask a qucstion spccifically in rclation to the rolc of the
21 Education Revicw Officc that you mentioncd as onc of thc agencics. How docs that officce
22 support thc Ministry's role to mcct its commitment undcr the Trcaty?

23 MS HOLSTED: The Education Review Office is its own department, it has its own obligations to

24 its own work, and it reviews schools and it needs to do so in accordance with the evaluative
25 framework that it is independently required to develop.

26 In the course of that, their job would be to include how those schools are responding
27 to the identity, the language, the culture of the children at that school.

28 MR THOMAS: What about specifically in relation to protection from harm, what role would you
29 say that office having in supporting your office?

3@ MS HOLSTED: The Education Review Office checks with boards to make sure that they have

31 the policies in place that they are required to under the law, under the legislation, that we
32 nurse through the system. So they are the monitors of the implementation of those laws.

33 MR THOMAS: [I've got one final question in relation to this protection from harm theme before

34 I move to a ncw topic. So on day one of this hcaring, thc Crown acknowledged through the
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1 opening statement of Crown counsel that -- and I'll read these, that number one, that the
2 Statc did not always ensure children, disabled people, Deaf people and those with mental
3 hcalth conditions were safc when in State carc; and two, the Statc did not always stop abusc
4 in Statc carc when it was discloscd or reported.”
5 Given those acknowledgments, do you accept that it would follow that where those
6 children were Maori children, the Ministry has not satisfied its commitment to actively

7 prevent them from harm?

8  MS HOLSTED: The Department of Education, in respect of those children, failed to do that at

° the time, that is correct.
18  MRTHOMAS: Thankyou. I'm going to ask you somc questions now about systcmic racism and
11 specifically, I guess, coming back to the acknowledgments that you made in your evidence.
12 There was no specific acknowledgment in relation to systemic racism, is that right?
13 MS HOLSTED: Correct.

14 MR THOMAS: Are you able to explain why that is?

15 MS HOLSTED: 1 don't know how to describe systemic racism. [ know it's a label that we put

16 across a lot of things. I'm not sure what it means in practice, and so therefore what am
17 | acknowledging? The words in the acknowledgments from this morning were carefully
18 choscn to be somcthing that we could change.

19 MR THOMAS: Okay.

26 MS HOLSTED: I don't know that I could change systemic racism, because I think by its nature it
2i is pervasive -- I know it is pervasive beyond any single part of the system.

22 MR THOMAS: Within thc education system though, would you consider your Ministry has a

23 role in that?

24 MS HOLSTED: 1 think that we would absolutely acknowledge, is that we have, as a system too

25 often, not always, but too often had lower expectations of certain groups and communities,
26 and 1 would include in that Deaf, disabled, Maori, Pacific, so that expectations of those

27 children is biased against their success. And we know that cxpcectation is an cxtremely

28 powerful influence in how children achieve and engage in learning.

29 MR THOMAS: Would you consider, I gucss, in your vicw that as an cxamplc of systcmic racism,
30 or would you not be prepared to go that far?

31 MS HOLSTED: As | say, I'm happy to, not happy to, but I'm prepared to acknowledge those

32 things that | think we can influence. To acknowledge things that we can't is something of a

33 platitude.
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1 CHAIR: If] could just intervene briefly. Ms Holsted, there are certain -- "systems™ is a wide
2 word, isn't it.

3 MSHOLSTED: Mmm.

4 CHAIR: But counscl has dirccted you through the frameworks of the Te Tahuhu and its

5 predecessors and to the extent that the system is, for present purposes, those frameworks,

6 legislative, written policy and practices, I think if we could focus on that. 1 mean, there's

[ the crying out loud example, for example, of the prohibition on reo, which was a legislative
8 process.

9 MSHOLSTED: That's right.
18  CHAIR: To that cxtent, I think anyonc could accept, in hindsight at Icast, that was a racist
11 systemic piece of racist policy which possibly we all regret now. Would you agree with
12 that?

13 MS HOLSTED: I'mtryingto -- I have no question with you that the policy -- there's a wholc

14 series of legislation which has been, in hindsight, described as racist, absolutely. Whether
15 you would describe it at the time that that's how people believed, what they believed they
16 were doing, 1 can't comment on that.

17 CHAIR: If we take away the subjective view of what the people intended at the time, we can't

18 sccond-gucss that, but I think if we can say the effect was a racist in that it discriminated
19 against a particular racial group.

26 MS HOLSTED: Absolutcly discriminatory. Discrimination may bc a better word.

21 CHAIR: It's probably a morc comfortablc word, but --

22 MS HOLSTED: Well, discrimination can be positive or ncgative which is perhaps why it's an

23 easler word to use, but definitely it discriminated. We've had legislation that discriminated,
24 and we have done what we can over the years to eliminate legislated discrimination. That
25 has not eliminated biases, human biases. And I'm on record some years ago in media

26 talking about unconscious bias of many teachers, because many of them go to school

27 belicving they're doing absolutely the right thing and arc not aware that some of their

28 actions arc in fact discriminatory, biascd or racist. So I don't wish to assign that to it, but I
29 do know that the outcome is devastating for those young people, devastating.

30 So I'm very concerned with how we change the outcome, and for me, I'll come back
31 to it, 1 don't think labelling their actions actually will help us change their actions.

32 CHAIR: Justto bring you back, we are talking here not about the individual, although obviously,
33 you know, there's a very grey line there, but we are talking about the extent to which a

34 Ministry, a Government Ministry, can legislate both in high legislation and in its policies
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| and in its practices in a way that has a discriminatory effiect and in hindsight can be seen as
2 racist.

3 MS HOLSTED: I'd agree absolutely with that, absolutely agree with that statement.

4  CHAIR: Thank you.

5 MR THOMAS: Thank you, Madam Chair. I'm going to bring you to your bricf of cvidencc at

6 paragraph 2.2. I'll give you a minute to get that. There you refer to the accounts of
7 survivors that you've heard through this Inquiry and you say that:
] "You have listened to the experiences of suffering and trauma, in particular how
° these have impacted on Maori, Pacific and children with disabilities."
10 Can you tell us what are the particular impacts for Maori that you havc hcard?

11 MS HOLSTED: Loss of mana, loss of status, loss of a scnsc of wcll-bcing; the scnsc of being

12 uscless, of being hopcless, of having nowherc to turn, of not being ablc to manage in

13 society more generally, of not being educated, of therefore not being able to be employed
14 and therefore going through another round of discrimination for other reasons and often on
15 an ongoing basis.

16 MR THOMAS: Thank you. Some of the impacts that I've noted that we've heard, I'll read

17 through these, include Maori being punished for speaking te reo, disconnection from

18 culture, language, mispronunciation of names, rcnaming Maori children with Pakcha

19 names, discouraging Maori from pursuing acadcmic pathways, supprcssion of cultural

20 identity, assimilation into westcrn idcologics of cducation, and discrediting traditional

21 Maori knowledge, devaluing Maori performing arts and discrediting Maori customary

22 practices including karakia.

23 I guess do you acknowledge on behalf of the Ministry that these were real impacts
24 on Maori children?

25  MS HOLSTED: Absolutely accept the statements from survivors. And, yeah, absolutely accept
26 what they've said to be true.

27 MR THOMAS: Relating to the question of impacts, can you talk about what impacts you've

28 heard for Pacific peoples in the evidence?

29 MS HOLSTED: I'm not surc they're too diffcrent, to be honest. Becausc of that loss of facc, a
30 sense of disbelief, of not feeling -- not being able to front family again, feeling that they're
31 to blame, 1 think those are the other aspects of abuse that are long-lasting and devastating.
32 MR THOMAS: I'm just going to again refer to some of the other specific impacts that we've

33 heard in relation to Pacific peoples and then I'll just ask you a couple of questions at the

34 end. In summary, wc've heard cvidence about a tcacher changing a Samoan namc to an



TRN0000632_0032

360
1 English name as it was -- as the teacher found the pronunciation difficult, a disconnection
2 from language, culturc and identity whilc in cducation scttings and duc to thosc mentioned
3 impacts, Pacific children struggling to connect and communicate with their families and
4 communities outside of the cducation scctor.
5 What can the Ministry implement in terms of change in response to those impacts,
6 both in relation to Maori and Pacific children?
7~ MS HOLSTED: Primarily, we need to do it through growing the capability of the teaching
] workforce, the education workforce, and recruiting greater numbers of Maori and Pacific
L into the workforce. On the -- my first year of teaching in Auckland, 1 discovered 1 was
10 tcaching a second-ycar school class and I Icarncd that Johnny was Etionc, so in his sccond
11 ycar of school that school had alrcady changed his name, so I'm strongly currcatly awarc
12 that that's the sort of -- that wasn't unusual. That's my point. Unfortunatcly, that was
13 normal.
14 So we had a long way to go. [ would like to say now, and 1 know it's not normal for
15 that to happen. 1 don't in any way deny the experiences of those people who did experience
16 that. When 1 was teaching back in 1970 something, as I say, that would have been
17 common. 1 don't think it is common now.
18 So what we have donc from a societal point of vicw, I take no credit for the shift in
19 that, there's been a lot of advocates and challenging people out there helping socicty shift
20 on thosc things. But as a systcm wc have advocated for better language opportunitics for
21 tcachcers to understand how to say names. Wc have tricd to normalisc particularly te rco,
22 we arc much slower on Pacific languagces, I'm rcally conscious of that, and there's been
23 some small things done more recently that will start to grow that.
24 But we need to -- the Teachers Council has identified, for example, their
25 competencies required for teachers coming out of training, as to how they can be and need
26 to be culturally competent. We do not recruit teachers, but the universities need to be
27 recruiting to mcct that standard. Thc schools then need to reinforee that behaviour and
28 lcadership nceds to reflect it. So it's through the workforce that we nced to influcnce thosc
29 changcs.

3@ MR THOMAS: Thank you. I'm going to move to some other questions now relating more to

31 Pacific peoples in the time we've got left in this session. So 1 just wanted to start, [ guess,
32 by again referring back to the acknowledgments and 1 just wanted to clarif'y, does the
33 acknowledgment that the education system has underserved many learners, does that

34 includc Pacific learners?
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1 MS HOLSTED: It does.

2 MR THOMAS: Sorry, Ms Schmidt-McClcave has just mentioned that we might also have onc of
3 your collcagucs to assist with thesc questions.

4  CHAIR: Yes, and please fcel frce to refer to any of your collcagucs if you think that it's their arca.
5 Wc'll leave that to you to decide, it's up to you.

6 MSSCHMIDT-McCLEAVE: We may do a reconfiguration, to use the language of counsel

7 yesterday, ma'am. Ms Vink will just pop out. I'd like to introduce Ms Yvette

8 Guttenbeil -Po'uhila, and she will introduce herself.

¢ MS GUTTENBEIL PO'UHILA-: Malo e lelei everybody, Malo e lelei Commissioners. Ko

10 Yvctte Guttenbeil -Po'uhila. I hail from the islands of -- many islands of Moananui a Kiwa,
11 actually, but mainly from Tonga and I'm a daughtcr of thc migration to Aotcaroa, have had
12 all thosc expericnces, and I'm herc on behalf of thc Ministry of Education. I am a

13 middle-agced Tongan woman with brown fcaturcs wearing black. Malo ‘aupito.

14 CHAIR: Malo.
15 MR THOMAS: Thank you, Madam Chair. And again, Ms Holsted, I'll direct the questions to

16 you but I'll take a steer from you if you'd like your colleague to address the question as
17 well.

18 So I guess the first question, did representatives of the Ministry attend or listen to
19 the Royal Commission's Pacific hearing in July last year, 20217

206 MS HOLSTED: I'm not surc if cducation representatives werc there, but I know the Crown was
21 therc and we were given reports of all of the hearings.

22 MR THOMAS: Werc there any -- from those reports, I gucss, werc there any particular lcarnings
23 or reflections that your Ministry took from that evidence?

24 MS HOLSTED: I'm not sure | can answer that question, to be honest. I'm not sure that Yvette

25 can either.

26 MS GUTTENBEIL PO'UHILA-: Yes, thank you. There were representatives there from the

27 Ministry at the hcaring, specifically from Ministry of Education, also the rcgional Auckland
28 tcam, Tamaki Makaurau team attended. We have had somc information from thc -- for the
29 regional team but nota lot.

3@ MR THOMAS: Sorry, going back a step before [ get into my other questions -- no, sorry, I've

31 covered that point. Moving on, relating to that hearing, there was some expert evidence,
32 Dr Julia loane gave evidence about the many negative experiences Pacific survivors had,
33 including from the education system. She spoke of language barriers, bullying and feelings

34 of isolation which lcd to non-compliant behaviour. That witncess said that we need to invest
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| in intensive support for our school-aged children. 1 guess, firstly, yeah, were you aware of
2 that cvidence and how would you respond to that cvidence?

3 MS HOLSTED: I'm certainly aware of the lack of language capability in the system, and I'm

4 certainly aware of the sensc of isolation, I supposc, for Pacific pcople. I think where it
5 might be uscful for Yvettc to talk about is what we're working on in terms of the Pacific
6 Plan and where that's come from, and where it's at at the moment.

7  MS GUTTENBEIL PO'UHILA-: Thank you. In 2018 to 2019, the Ministry underwent a Korero

] Matauranga which was an extensive consultation with communities. In that programme,

° there was extensive consultation and fono with various Pacific communities, church leaders
10 and identificd groups. So we had Icarncrs, we also mct with the rainbow community, wc
11 met with whanau, with learners with disabilities, we also mct with, we also fonocd with
12 providers and young people who identified as needs, not in education, employment or
13 training. And so that - from that consultation or from thosc various fono we were ablc to --
14 that information contributed to the development of the action plan for Pacific peoples 2020
15 to 2030. And in the action plan there are five specific shifts that the action plan is seeking
16 to support Pacific learners and their families in the system.

17 MR THOMAS: Can you, | guess, briefly outline what those are?
18 MS GUTTENBEIL PO’'UHILA-: Yes. The shifts spcak to working with -- sorry, my English is

19 a second language so I've got to rcad this slowly. Working rcciprocally with diversc

20 Pacific communities to respond to unmet needs and aspirations. The sccond is to confront
21 systcmic racism and discrimination in education. Thc third is to cnablc tcachcers and

22 Icadcrs in cducation to take coordinated action and beccome culturally compcetent for diverse
23 learners. The fourth is partnering with families to design opportunities together with

24 teachers and leaders, and the last one talks about valuing highly-competent teachers and

25 leaders in the sector.

26 MR THOMAS: Thank you. At a high level, and I'll direct this to Ms Holsted firstly, would the
27 Ministry rccognise cultural ncglect as in a failurc to providce access to onc's culture,
28 language and identity whilc in cducation as a typc of abusc or ncglect?

29  MS HOLSTED: I said right at thc outsct identity, the order is important; identity, language and

30 culture, and as 1 said at the outset, those things are central to the engagement and learning
31 for all children. The absence of them discriminates against their capacity and their ability
32 to be the best they can.

33 MR THOMAS: I'm going to ask now about some evidence around cultural support for Pacific

34 children, including migrant people, Pacific peoples. We heard some evidence at the Pacific
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| hearing that from 1950 to the present day, the education has failed to meet the needs of
2 Pacific children by not providing culturally-appropriatc wrap-around supports for Pacific
3 children and families. Specifically including thosc who have migrated from the Pacific
4 Islands.
5 Does the Ministry accept that?

6  MS HOLSTED: 1 accept that there's a -- we have an insufficient number of Pacific teachers,

7 support staff, specialist staff, as we do Maori staff. And recruiting and retaining those

] people is a huge and ongoing challenge. We have sought to do that through the use of

° scholarships and other ways of providing access. And sometimes that's been successful but
10 it is an ongoing piccc of work, and it's under a pcrmancnt act of considcration how we grow
11 that workforce.

12 MR THOMAS: Thecrc's also been evidence at that hearing about not providing

13 culturally-appropriate training and support for tcachers to cnsurc that the nceds of Pacific
14 children, particularly migrant children, are met. Would you accept that that was a failing?
15 MS HOLSTED: 1 would ask Yvette to talk to you a little about Tapasa which is the initiative

16 we've taken to try and address that issue.

17 MS GUTTENBEIL PO'UHILA: The Tapasa framework is a cultural competency framework for

18 tcachcrs who teach learners from the Pacific. It takes in through a module process of

19 identifying what young - what Pacific Icarncrs might nced in the classroom or the schooling
20 sctting.

21 W also have fundcd and supported Tautai o Ilc Moana, which is a principals' or a

22 leadership programme and is run by the New Zealand Principals' Association, members of
23 the New Zealand Pacific Principals' Association, and that is to support principals who have
24 either a high Pacific learner population or Pacific principals themselves. So there are two
25 competency or cultural competency frameworks that the Ministry supports presently; one
26 for teachers and one for leadership.

27 MR THOMAS: I guess just to placc thosc in time, would thosc be morc recent frameworks?

28 MS GUTTENBEIL PO'UHILA: Ycs.

29 MR THOMAS: So, as to my qucstion, would therc have been Iess training and support, say,

30 going back to the terms of reference period 1950 to 1999 in particular?

31 MS HOLSTED: 1 suspect there was none. The 2018 Tapasa work was done in response to a

32 recognised need.

33 MR THOMAS: I'm just going to go through a couple more impacts, and 1 appreciate we're nearly

34 out of timec, Madam Chair.



10

11

12

13

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

25,

28

29

30

31

32

TRN0000632_0036

364

CHAIR: Is this a new topic?

MR THOMAS: It's a continuation. Pcrhaps if1 just finish with two morc qucstions and then
continue aftcr the break?

CHAIR: Wc don't want to go too much over our 45 minutcs.

MR THOMAS: Thank you. Thcre was cvidencc that the cducational systcm has failed to addrcss
barriers that prevent Pacific children, especially migrant children, from being able to
adequately adjust to the New Zealand education system. Would you accept that evidence?

MS HOLSTED: 1'd probably want to know when. 1 think that the system has changed
tremendously since 1950 to the time. So we know from the stories of the Pacific migrants
in the 1950s into places likc Dunedin and so forth which were complctcely alicn at cvery
lcvel from climate through to -- so the system, migrant workcrs in Ncw Zcaland gencrally
were cxpected to comce and become workers for "the system", the system wasn't there to
welcome them, and I think that there's generations of migrants to New Zealand who have
experienced that and large numbers of Pacific workers were in that situation.

What | would like to say is that while change may be happening too slow, and it
often feels like it is, it has occurred. [ don't want to diminish the experience of those people
and Yvette herself, as a modern woman, will have experienced her own forms of
discrimination, and I'm sure would bc happy to sharc somc of thosc.

MS GUTTENBEIL PO'UHILA-: Surc. So just coming -- just Tautokoing Iona's korcro or
talanoa, wc have comc a long way and in recent -- in the recent 2020 budget, we have been
ablc to support a number of community providers, Pacific providers, Pacific experts and
profcssionals who have stepped up to be part of the solution of the very context that you arc
talking about. When I think of my own personal education journey, those things were not
there or not available for my migrant parents. But as a migrant myself, it is available for
me and my young children. And so the Ministry supports the Talanoa Ako programme
which is across New Zealand. It is an opportunity for parents, for whanau, for families and
communities to come together and Talanoa Ako which is talk cducation, talk lcarning and
talk schooling. So that programme is currently being run.

In the Pacific education funding we have mentoring, academic mentoring
programmes out there, we have partnered with various agencies, Pacific providers but also
health and social agencies to provide a more comprehensive service to our learners during

the Covid impact especially, and so while they are --
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1 CHAIR: Sorry, can | just stop you? We are returning over time. | don't want to stop you, and
2 what I'd like to do is to pause, you can take a brecath, we'll all have a cup of tca and then
3 we'll come back and then you can continuc, all right? Is that all right?

4  MS GUTTENBEIL PO'UHILA: That's finc.

5 CHAIR: Let's take a 15-minutc break and we'll return about 25 to 12.

6 Adjournment from 11.17 am to 11.35 am

7  CHAIR: Welcome back everybody. Now, we interrupted you and so now you've got an

] opportunity in a more relaxed way perhaps to explain, but again, remembering speed.
’ Especially when people, I find, are listing things, the list goes faster and faster like a steam
10 train, so if you wouldn't mind. So did you want to just rcoricnt this, Mr Thomas?

11 MRTHOMAS: Ycs. Sure, Madam Chair. Thank you. I gucss ycah, we were talking about, I

12 think you werc talking previously about the sort of morc current initiatives in rclation to
13 Pacific peoples. Did you want thc opportunity to finish that or I can move to the next topic
14 questions?

15 MS GUTTELBEIL PO'UHILA: Yes. 1think I left off where 1 was talking about the

16 partnerships or the contracts that we have with a range of Pacific providers, professionals,
17 experts in the sector also, and how the funding has enabled so much activity and also how
18 we've cxperienced the community coming forward to be part of the solution for a lot of the
19 things that we're here for today.

26 MR THOMAS: Thank you. Still in relation to Pacific pcoplcs, I want to ask about barricrs to

P3| education briefly, and in the Ministry's response to the Notice to Produce 422, we've got
22 this up on the screen, document ending 4599 pagce 7, the Ministry acknowlcdges that

23 racism, ableism and bias have impacted access to education for some learners. [ wanted to
24 ask Ms Holsted and yourself, I guess, what barriers to education does the Ministry

25 recognise for Pacific peoples?

26~ MS HOLSTED: 1 think I'd like to describe that as access to learning. [ think education may make

27 it sound like actually attending school, whereas attending school for many of our Pacific

28 children is not such an issue. I havc to say, can I say, Covid again has impactcd on that, but
29 at the time this rclates to. So I think the issues that Yvcttc's talking about in tcrms of access
30 to learning is what we're really reflecting in that statement. Is there anything else that you
31 wish to add?

32 MS GUTTELBEIL PO'UHILA: Yeah, so when we think of access to learning, it is access to a
33 physical place where our young people can enrol and attend learning or school, or early

34 lcarning providers, which is something that thc Ministry is very much responsible for.



TRN0000632_0038

366

1 The other part I'd like to probably bring to the kérero, to the talanoa at the minute is
2 the impacts of, we've just gone through the -- last ycar we had the public apology for the

3 Dawn Raid policy, and the impacts during that time are long lasting, and so you will have a
4 community of people who, in sometimes legislation, sometimes description, are tabelled as
5 "other", so if you arc Pacific or you arc Tongan or Samoan, you'rc put ovcr here and therc's
6 another response for you.

7 Important when we're thinking identity language and culture because the

] competency around that needs to be acknowledged and supported. However, when we're

L thinking of bias and we're thinking of the learning environments, there's a lot of work that's
10 required in this space. The Ministry has the Tuli scholarships, of which we've
11 acknowledged the harm that happened during that time, but also we've got the work that we
12 arc doing again in our communitics to support thcm undcrstand the impacts in the
13 environment that we came into to also support their children, our tamariki, our mokopuna
14 in learning spaces and the sector in the workforce. So there's a lot of work happening in
15 that space.

16 CHAIR: Can I just clarify that. So we've got two aspects here, |1 think. One is access to

17 education by being able to go to school, actually attend physically, but once they're there,

18 the access issucs are still there, aren't they, becausc it's the type of tcaching, the compcetency
19 of the tcachcrs and the differcnt culturcs and the recognition of the need for different

20 Icarning environments that is also impacting on acccss to lcarning.

21 MS HOLSTED: That's correct. In fact, more so. And typically, and I'll go prc-Covid for a whilc,

22 if you werc looking at regular studcnt attendancce it was quitc often the casc that Pacific

23 children would attend school, they'd be present, but they were not participating. And then
24 when you saw them at the end of their schooling life at NCEA, they'd often stay on longer
25 but not necessarily achieve at the same level. So that tells you that the experience they

26 were having was not helping them to participate in learning. So those are the changes that
27 Yvettc's talking about in helping teachers to change their practice.

28 The other point I would make, and it's too early to tell, I suppose, but the

29 introduction of Histories Aotcaroa New Zcaland supports acccss to Icarning, becausc if you
30 don't see yourself in history, you aren't part of it. And for Maori and Pacific and our

31 Chinese migrant communities in particular whose stories have not been told, this provides a
32 new opportunity, and we're a year later doing it, because of Covid, but actually to my point
33 earlier, | think that year will have given our profession greater time to be more confident in

34 tcaching it.
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1 CHAIR: Thank you for that, I'd just like to note that what you have said is well supported by our
2 survivor cvidencee, the number of Pacific pcoplc who spokc of the almost hostilc
3 environment that they fielt when they were at school, so thank you very much for that.

4 MR THOMAS: Thank you, Madam Chair. I wantcd to move now to ask a qucstion about

5 cducational undcr-performance for Pacific students, and this is again referring to the

6 Ministry's NTP response page 9, which is up on the screen. The Ministry acknowledges

Fi that the education system continues to under-perform for Pacific students. 1 guess in what

] key ways do you see it still under-performing?

® MSHOLSTED: It goes to the heart of education. The teacher bias and low expectations which
10 I mentioned carlicr in response to another question arc cxtremcly powcrful determinants for
11 lcarning outcomes. As the saying goes, you get what you cxpect. So if Pacific children arc
12 being cxpected to cither not succecd or to just go into the trades, and I don't diminish the
13 importance of tradcs, but if that's the only options that thcy're given, then that Ievel of bias
14 seriously impacts on their outcomes.

15 Again, we come back to the identity; who is the child in front of you, their

16 language, how can I communicate with you? And their culture; what is it that's meaningful
17 and important to you and how do | change my practice to respond to those things?

18 MR THOMAS: Thank you. I'm going to keep moving along, in thc intcrests of time, on to
19 complaints.

20 COMMISSIONER ERUETI: Just before, cxcuse me, before you move from the topic if I can

21 ask a quick question about Tc Tiriti. Ms Holsted, I wondcr if you can help us with a short
22 statcment of the Trcaty about the Crown. The Crown includcs the Public Scrvice which
23 includes your Ministry but the Ministry is not a treaty partner, so we heard that

24 Ms Schmidt-McCleave talked about this in her opening and | have to admit, I'm a bit

25 puzzled by that, about why the Treaty obligations -- they stop somewhere but they don't
26 extend to your Ministry.

27 ~ MS HOLSTED: I'm not surc if it's obligations as much. Pcrhaps if1 can dcscribe to you the

28 framework that is in my mind when I think about this. On thec Crown sidc kawanatanga is
29 exercised and that is described in Te Tiriti, and tino rangatiratanga is described iwi Maori
30 side. In atriangle, those two things are at the top. At the bottom you have equity, if you
31 like, and the job of'the Public Service is to bring to that situation a way of giving

32 expression to tino rangatiratanga. Now, we can't do that as Public Service departments any

33 more than the Crown can do it, but we need to create the space for it.
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1 So if 1 give you a practical example of what we're doing at the moment in a policy

2 process it might help. We're undertaking work on behalf of thc Government to grow the

3 numbcrs of Maori children, tamariki, in Maori mcdium or kaupapa Maori medium

4 cducation by 30% by 2040. That's a hugcly aspirational ask, but that's thc aspiration.

5 In order to do that, we have, with the Crown, sct up a group of Maori, Tc Pac Roa,

6 who are actually going around the country independently, independently of us and

7 independently of the Crown, to talk with Maori and iwi Maori about their aspirations and

] how they would see us collectively achieving that goal.

L They have brought that tino rangatiratanga to the table. Eventually the Crown will
10 make a decision about that. Wc, as a policy agency, arc navigating bectween thosc two
11 things to provide advice to allow the Crown to exercise its rights and obligations. Does that
12 hclp?
13 COMMISSIONER ERUETI: Not really, I'm afraid, bccausc you arc the Crown, and you acccpt
14 that you are the Crown, but what you're saying is that even though you are the Crown, you
15 are not a treaty partner, the Ministry is not a treaty partner, 1 just need to be clear about that.

16 MS HOLSTED: I'm not of the Crown, I'm a creature of the Crown, but the Crown is the

17 government on behalf of the Queen.

18 COMMISSIONER ERUETI: Okay, so this seems to mc to bc a constitutional broad qucstion,
19 right?

26 MS HOLSTED: Mmm.

21 COMMISSIONER ERUETTI: I still can't scc any justification for the distinctions that arc being
22 madc on the basis of what's been said so far.

23 MS HOLSTED: My point -- 1 don't want to overlabour it because in practice we have a range of

24 relationships between Te Tahuhu and iwi Maori across the motu. My point is I can do

25 those things because I have the permission of my ministers. They are not things that I can
26 enter as an independent partner to the Treaty. So if I'm entering a relationship with iwi

27 Maori that's bascd on Te Tiriti I require my ministerial -- I requirc ministcrial Crown

28 approval to do that. So in a day--to-day basis this docsn't affcct our rclationship very much
29 atall. ButI just need to be clear about wherc the authority for that lics.

38  COMMISSIONER ERUETI: Okay, I've got your explanation. | mean, I still don't understand it

31 fully, about what the legal basis is for making that distinction between you not being a
32 Treaty partner and it being somewhere -- it sits with Cabinet, is what you're saying, it sits
33 with the minister as the Treaty partner.

34 MS HOLSTED: Correct.
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COMMISSIONER ERUETI: Then it stops there, and your relationship --

MS HOLSTED: The relationship doesn't stop but the authority for establishing the relationship as
a Tc Tiriti rclationship docs. So we have a continuum of rclationships with iwi Maori as sct
out by Te Arawhiti, the Crown Maori relationship agency. Sometimes you're involved
informing Maori, somctimes you're consulting, somctimes you'rc cngaging and at onc cnd
of the continuum you have actually got a Treaty partnership. When you're at that end of the
continuum, I'm doing so with agreement from ministers.

COMMISSIONER ERUETTI: 1 suppose one way to look at it is if you look at your Treaty clause
in your legislation which is really a direction from the law-makers including your minister,
that you seem to be saying that that is the extent of the obligations becausc they're
delegated to you through the legislation. But that means that, for me, the question is
whcther there are any other Treaty obligations that apply to your Ministry that arc not
specified in that Treaty clause because they seem to be contained neatly within section 9, 1
think it is, and you seem to be saying that beyond section 9 you don't see any other
obligations that may arise from the Treaty.

MS HOLSTED: 1 think those are absolutely things that we are learning about all the time. What
I'm trying to describe here is the formal situation that we're in at the moment. So is, for
example, consulting with Maori before we establish a professional leadership and
development course, is that a treaty relationship, from your perspective?

COMMISSIONER ERUETI: It would be, ycs, an obligation undcr the Treaty. That would flow
from scction 9.

MS HOLSTED: So we would do that anyway bccause we respect the mana whenua.

COMMISSIONER ERUETI: So you see there are obligations that would apply to the Ministry
beyond those spelt out specifically in section 9?

MS HOLSTED: That was my point before, that on a daily basis, that's exactly what we do but
there comes a point of engagement which, for example, consulting, a silly example, but
consulting over something of that nature is something that is absolutely within my ken and
which all of our documents say we will do, and we do. There is a distinction when we get
to committing the Crown to a Treaty relationship which might in turn translate into ongoing
expenditure, for example.

COMMISSIONER ERUETI: Okay. I think we'll leave it there for now, but 1 appreciate the
explanation. The other puzzle was your way of describing discrimination and not wanting
to acknowledge systemic discrimination. I think you're prepared to concede that there is

discriminatory legislation historically, but when it comes to the notion of systemic racism
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| within the education sector historically, you don't -- you say you can't make that assessment
2 because it's not somcething that you yourself could cffcet or change? If you could
3 just -- I just was a bit puzzlcd by it. I think thc other view you said was that back then it
4 may not havc becn considered to be discriminatory and therefore you now cannot say it was

5 systcmic?

6 MS HOLSTED: No, I said I didn't know if it would have been described as racist. 1 think 1t was

[ definitely discrimination, it was just as the Social Welfare legislation continues to

] discriminate, it allows for some people to get some things and other people not to. So we

’ still have discriminatory legislation. So that was the response to that question.
10 Thc question I was asked was more gencrally in terms of systcmic racism and I said
11 that was a hugc issue.
12 In terms of cducation, I don't know if there's been systemic racism. I do know that
13 there are people who will hold racist views because they represent the population at large. |
14 do know that there are people there who will discriminate deliberately, and is that racism?
15 Probably. 1 know there will be others who will behave in ways which will negatively

16 impact on people but I'd probably describe that as an unconsciousness. So what we're

17 trying to do through everything we're doing is go from critical consciousness through to

18 active protection, if you like, in the engagement.

19  COMMISSIONER ERUETI: Okay. If you discriminatc on thc basis of racc, that's racial

20 discrimination. Just to be clcar, that throughout all pcriods of history, you'rc not preparcd
21 to accept that there was any systemic racism within the cducation system?

22 MS HOLSTED: No, I'm not saying I don't acccpt it, I'm just saying I'm not surc what it mcans

23 and where it means, because I'm not sure how it takes us anywhere. The concept is big and
24 it's a useful label, but I'm not sure what we do next with it.

25  COMMISSIONER ERUETI: Let's just see it as this, that throughout the education - say with the

26 Native Schools Act, for example, is that Maori were only able to attend to those schools if
27 they provided the bricks and mortar, and the building, and when they did attend they

28 weren't allowed to speak tc rco Maori and it was uscd as a tool of assimilation. Maori werc
29 cffectively excluded from the education system. I think in thc 1930s it would have been

30 maybe 1,000 Maori throughout the country. Maybe a 1,000 who were in school. Do you
31 think that that paints a picture of systemic racism?

32 MSHOLSTED: I think it does, I think it does. My point, | suppose, is | want to describe things
33 in a way that we can fix them, so it's the labelling of things that doesn't help us fix them,

34 that's all I'm saying.
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1 COMMISSIONER ERUETI: Okay. What is important for counsel is just to get the

2 acknowledgment and recognition of systemic racism within the education system

3 historically, because we weren't able to get that from the Policc Commissioncr and it's so

4 important in terms of hcaling and also recognising thc cxtent of the problem so we can fix it
5 today, so I really apprcciatc that.

6 ~ MSHOLSTED: Can I distinguish between the Police Commissioner's situation and what I'm

7 talking about though? Because you are talking to me about a system which is a very, very
] expansive system. | think you would find, I think you were asking the Police
’ Commissioner, whether or not there was systemic racism within Police and that is a

10 differcnt question.

11 COMMISSIONER ERUETI: Okay, thank you for your time, I appreciate it.

12 CHAIR: Yes, Mr Thomas.

13 MR THOMAS: Thank you, Madam Chair. Ms Holsted, I'm going to movc now to a diffcrent

14 topic entirely, the use of seclusion in education settings. Apologies, we're just going to

15 swap witnesses around.

16 CHAIR: Please do.

17 MR THOMAS: Ms Holsted, I'm just going to start briefly in a summary way to talk about the use

18 of timc-out at a residential school between 1999 and 2000 and I'm not going to proposc to
19 bring this up on the screen, I'm just going to summarisc that you scnt a Ictter of apology to
20 a complainant about the usc of timc-out at a residential school on bchalf of the Ministry,
21 and this Ictter was in 2019. In relation to that apology, do you acccpt that that was an

22 examplc of inappropriate usc of a time-out room within a school sctting?

23 MS HOLSTED: Which school are we talking about, please?

24 MR THOMAS: [ can't name that for the purpose for natural justice reasons, but I can bring the

25 document up for you, if it would assist.

26 MS HOLSTED: Thank you.

27 MR THOMAS: Just bcar with us whilc we do that. Herc we arc. So the document is cnding

28 214454 and I'll just give you a chancc to --

26 MS HOLSTED: Yes, thank you. I am familiar with it. It's an unusual situation, actually, becausc

30 the reason that they're -- "yes" is the short answer to the question, but the reason it came
31 from the secretary rather than from the school was that by the time that claim came to us
32 the school had closed.

33 MR THOMAS: 1 understand, thank you. Would you accept in that case that that was relating to

34 inappropriate usc of a timc-out room?
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MS HOLSTED: Yes.

MR THOMAS: Sorry, if you nccd a minute to --

MS HOLSTED: No, I'vc rcad it. Yes, I do.

MR THOMAS: That complaint falls within the Commission's terms of reference period, being
1999. I'm going to not dwcll on that one and I'm going to movc to talk morc about the Ruru
complaint that you've mentioned already in your acknowledgment, and I've noted that,
thank you.

MS HOLSTED: Thank you. I'll ask David to speak to the detail of the Ruru end, and possibly it
might help to deal with subsequent issues related to seclusion as well.

MR THOMAS: Surc.

MR WALES: Itmight bc helpful to give a brief history of some of this matcrial. And I notc that
you usc the term "timc-out" and I'll come to that shortly. But thcre would have been a
period of timc within the time period that you'rc considcring that scclusion, ic locking a
child away in isolation, was considered an appropriate response to behaviour; in the same
way that corporal punishment was acceptable. But things did begin to move and shift
around the 1970s to the 198@s where the notion of time-out came into favour.

This was something a little different from simply locking children away. This was
about assisting thcm to move away from an environment that was rcinforcing or
encouraging certain behaviour. So it had a therapeutic element to it that simply locking
children away did not.

However, the tecrms were fairly casually uscd and somctimes conflated and used
instead of each other. So by the time we camc to consider Ruru and somce other schools, we
needed to ascertain whether they had used timeout in an appropriate way to assist a learner
to essentially self---regulate. This is a way -- [ think in some way or another, we all do, we
all take ourselves out of situations to manage our emotions, and the behaviour that stems
from that. We needed to ascertain whether Ruru had used that appropriately in that sense
or whcether they had uscd it in a punitive way. So that was the invcestigation that occurrcd at
Ruru and in a number of other circumstanccs as wcll.

MR THOMAS: Thank you for that contcxt to thesc questions and I will, I gucss for clarity, when
1 use the terms "seclusion” or "time-out" in my questioning, I'm thinking more in terms of
the current legislative definition, if you like, which is along the lines of where a child or
student believes -- either cannot physically leave a room or reasonably believes that they
cannot.

CHAIR: Just for clarity, is that the definition of scclusion or the definition of timc-out?
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MR THOMAS: Seclusion, in the legislation, Madam Chair.

MR WALES: By dcfinition for timc-out they can leave.

CHAIR: And that's the differcnce?

MR WALES: It's a voluntary exercise, yeah.

MR THOMAS: Thank you. I'm just going to, I gucss, givc somc contcxt to that, the
circumstances of that complaint and in doing that I'm going to refer to the independent
investigation report that the Ministry commissioned in relation to that complaint. 1 guess
Just to introduce that for the benefit of listeners, this was a 2014 complaint that the Ministry
became involved with in relation to the use of the seclusion room at Ruru Special School in
Invercargill and the complaint was made by the parcnts of a student who attendced that
school and those parcnts werc Victoria and Callum Turnbull. Their son has autism and
attended that school. They discovcered at a mecting with school Icaders that their son had
been placed in a scclusion room at the school when he was aged around 10 ycars old.
That's just a bit of context. 1'm going to talk about the investigation report first of all and
then I'm going to move to ask you some questions about the Ministry's guidelines at the
time and then come to more the current position on seclusion, so if that is just to help
orientate you.

So, starting with the investigation rcport in 2015, as I said, thc Ministry appointed
an independent investigator to complete a report into the school board's handling of the
complaint. In fairncss as well, I'm going to notc that there arc aspects of that report that
both the school and the Turnbulls disagree with or disputc. So I'm just wanting to notc that
in fairncss to thosc parties, wanted to notc that.

My questions today are more focused on the Ministry's response and guidelines and
what's happened later. But to assist, I think that report will help the Commissioners to
understand that specific complaint. So referring to the investigator's report, I'm going to
refer to the investigator's description of the room at that school. And we have some photos
up as well on the scrcen. This is document cnding 7793 at page 17 of thec document. I'm
going to summarise thc investigator's description of thc room, which shc described it as
located in the corner of a classroom and spccifically built as a timc-out room, was 1.3
metres by 1.8 metres and 3.3 metres high. It had high internal windows, no electric light,
but had a door, and she described the room as dark and grimy, the atmosphere was not
pleasant. In her view, the room should be closed. To your knowledge, was it closed?

MR WALES: From memory yes, it was.

MR THOMAS: [ undcrstood that changes werc later made to it, but it wasn't closcd, as such.
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MR WALES: My recollection is that there was some versions of building plans where it was
labelled differcntly, I can't recall whether that related to a period of time before the
complaint was made or after. I think it was before.

MR THOMAS: The investigator looked at the school's documentation rcgarding the usc of the
room and this showed the school's records that it had been uscd for four different students
on multiple occasions between 2011 and 2014. Did it concern the Ministry to read that?

MR WALES: Yes. Yes, most certainly.

MR THOMAS: The investigator considered the school's safe area procedure document and she
commented that that was lacking and she had a number of questions remaining regarding
the room's use. I'm going to actually bring up thesc questions, so that is document cnding
7793, this is the investigator's report, and I'm just going to read out some of those questions
that shc had: What is a rcasonable time to be in the safc room; is there a time limit; how
robust are safc room use rccords; is the use of the safc room intcgrated into an
individualised student programme; has a psychologist been involved in the decision for
individual student use of the safe room; when does behaviour or a crisis call for another
form of intervention; what is the involvement of parents; are parents required to sign a
consent form for their child to be placed in the safe area if it is deemed necessary; if parents
arc not in agrccment with the usc of the safe room as a strategy for their child, what
alternative are they offered; arc the parcnts informed of the safc room as part of their child's
programme?

And then down below:  Is there an opportunity for misusc; how docs the school
guard against misuse, for example, students being in the safe area for an extended period of
time; the door to the safe area being closed when the policy stipulates it must always be
open; how does the use of the safe area keep the integrity of the young person intact?

My question in relation to those questions is, would the Ministry agree that these
were important questions about the room's use that were either unknown or at least not
documentcd at the timc?

MR WALES: Yes, they certainly are important questions, yes. I would also say that the report
and those questions werc part of thc reason why we moved to really take a closc look at
seclusion. They also, might I say, kind of reflect the comment 1 made before, that we're
conflating seclusion with time-out within this sense, a safe room, so that the use is unclear.

MR THOMAS: Thank you. And the investigator also noted that the school's criteria for the room
was for it to be used as a last resort when a child presents a clear risk of harm to

themselves, others or property. The investigator contacted both the Ministry of Education
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| and the New Zealand Schools Trustees Association, but could not locate any Ministry
2 guidelincs about these spaccs. Did the Ministry have guidclincs at the time?

3 MR WALES: Again, relying on memory, I undcrstand there were some intcrnal guidclines that
4 were availablc from some period quite before this.

s MR THOMAS: We'll come to the specific guidelines shortly. My understanding is there were

6 guidelines issued in 1998 and we'll come more to the content of those. 1 guess the question
7 is: why could the Ministry not locate those guidelines to provide to the investigator, do you
] know why?

* MR WALES: I'm sorry, | can't tell you that.

18  MRTHOMAS: Thc investigator also referred to a room at another Special Education school and

11 notcd it was only to be used with explicit parcntal consent. This is at page 30 of the report.
12 Thc investigator also said that there was no doubt the usc of such facilitics was common
13 practice in Special Education environments. Did it concern the Ministry to read this?

14 MR WALES: Yes, it did.

15 MR THOMAS: Was it a surprise?

16 MR WALES: Yes, it was.

17 MR THOMAS: Did the Ministry at the time have any data to show the level of seclusion room
18 use in schools in New Zealand?

19 MR WALES: No, wedidn't and in the light of these findings we quickly moved to get an

20 understanding of that.

21 MR THOMAS: The invcstigator's rcport was critical of the school board's handling of thc

22 complaint and concluded that the board have potentially failed the school community. The
23 report's final recommendation was that the Ministry convene a national working party to
24 consider the use of seclusion and restraint in schools and investigate best practice models.
25 That did occur in 2016 is that correct?

26 MR WALES: Correct.
27 MR THOMAS: I'm going to take you now through the Ministry's guidelines and starting with the

28 1998 ones I referred to, we might bring these up becausce I'm going to refer to some

29 extracts. This is document ending 7794, starting at page 14. Just looking at the middle of
30 that page, the guidance says -- sorry, just to orient the Commissioners, this document is

31 called Managing Extreme Behaviour in Schools", and my understanding from the front of
32 the document, that this was an external document. We can go to that, or you can take it

33 from me.

34 CHAIR: What do youmcan cxternal document?
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